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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D. C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

x  QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2012

OR

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
Commission file number: 001-31465

NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS L.P.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
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Delaware 35-2164875
(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

601 Jefferson Street, Suite 3600
Houston, Texas 77002
(Address of principal executive offices)
(Zip Code)

(713) 751-7507

(Registrant s telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject
to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No ~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data
File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such files). Yes x No ~

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting
company. See definition of accelerated filer , large accelerated filer , and smaller reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check
one):

Large Accelerated Filer x Accelerated Filer

Non-accelerated Filer " (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller Reporting Company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes ©~ No x

At November 7, 2012 there were 106,027,836 Common Units outstanding.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Statements included in this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements. In addition, we and our representatives may from time to time make
other oral or written statements that are also forward-looking statements.

Such forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements regarding capital expenditures, acquisitions and dispositions, expected
commencement dates of mining, projected quantities of future production by our lessees and projected demand for or supply of coal, aggregates
and oil and gas that will affect sales levels, prices and royalties and other revenues realized by us.

These forward-looking statements are made based upon management s current plans, expectations, estimates, assumptions and beliefs concerning
future events impacting us and therefore involve a number of risks and uncertainties. We caution that forward-looking statements are not
guarantees and that actual results could differ materially from those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.

You should not put undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. Please read Item 1A. Risk Factors in our Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2011 for important factors that could cause our actual results of operations or our actual financial condition to differ.

Prior Year Financial Information

We restated certain income-related items with respect to 2011 to properly reflect them in the correct quarter. Please read Note 17. Supplemental
Financial Information (unaudited) in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for additional information related to the restatements
of our prior year financial data.
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Part 1. Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements

NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS L.P.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except unit data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable - affiliates
Other

Total current assets

Land

Plant and equipment, net

Coal and other mineral rights, net
Intangible assets, net

Loan financing costs, net

Long-term contracts receivable - affiliate
Other assets, net

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accounts payable - affiliates
Obligation related to acquisitions
Current portion of long-term debt
Accrued incentive plan expenses - current portion
Property, franchise and other taxes payable
Accrued interest

Total current liabilities

Deferred revenue

Accrued incentive plan expenses
Long-term debt

Partners capital:

Common units outstanding (106,027,836)
General partner s interest
Non-controlling interest

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total partners capital

Total liabilities and partners capital

Table of Contents

CAPITAL

September 30,
2012
(Unaudited)

$ 122,419
36,761
10,077

218

169,475
24,515
33,968

1,352,800
71,900
4,430
55,741
849

$ 1,713,678

$ 3,223
573

87,230
7,585
5,602
7,990

112,203
123,689

8,915
852,039

604,430
10,013

2,845
(456)

616,832

$ 1,713,678

December 31,
2011

$ 214922
30,923
10,138

832

256,815
24,534
46,185

1,257,501
75,164
4,846

604

$ 1,665,649

$ 2,366
375

500

30,801

8,374

6,316

10,761

59,493
113,303
11,670
836,268

629,253
10,517
5,638

(493)
644,915

$ 1,665,649

5
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands, except per unit data)

Three Months Ended
September 30,
2012 2011
(Unaudited)

(Restated)
Revenues:
Coal royalties $ 70,259 $ 74,976
Aggregate royalties 1,643 2,099
Processing fees 1,641 3,967
Transportation fees 5,007 4,765
Oil and gas royalties 1,246 5,059
Property taxes 3,602 2,974
Minimums recognized as revenue 1,096 2,429
Override royalties 3,359 4,131
Other 6,322 2,764
Total revenues 94,175 103,164
Operating costs and expenses:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 14,485 19,819
Asset impairment 90,932
General and administrative 8,225 5,521
Property, franchise and other taxes 4,853 3,915
Transportation costs 446 540
Coal royalty and override payments 523 233
Total operating costs and expenses 28,532 120,960
Income (loss) from operations 65,643 (17,796)
Other income (expense):
Interest expense (13,677) (12,779)
Interest income 35 16
Income (loss) before non-controlling interest 52,001 (30,559)
Less non-controlling interest
Net income (loss) $ 52,001 $ (30,559)
Net income (loss) attributable to:
General partner $ 1,040 $ (611
Limited partners $ 50,961 $ (29,948)
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per limited partner unit $ 0.48 $  (0.28)
Weighted average number of units outstanding 106,028 106,028
Comprehensive income (loss) $ 52,015 $ (30,545)
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2012 2011
(Unaudited)
(Restated)

$193,053  $211,583

5,061 5,124
6,905 10,229
14,361 12,608
6,712 10,047
11,421 9,563
13,748 5,456
11,998 10,666
13,452 9,272

276,711 284,548

42,066 51,576
90,932

24,204 22,156
13,640 10,918
1,446 1,531
1,396 700

82,752 177,813

193,959 106,735

(40,815) (35,795)

104 40
153,248 70,980
51

$153248 § 70,929

$ 3065 $ 1419

$150,183 $ 69,510

$ 142 $  0.66

106,028 106,028

$153285 § 70,968
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Asset impairment

Gains on sale of assets

Gain on reserve swap

Non-cash interest charge, net
Non-controlling interest

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

Other assets

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued interest

Deferred revenue

Accrued incentive plan expenses
Property, franchise and other taxes payable

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Acquisition of land, coal and other mineral rights
Acquisition or construction of plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets

Return on direct financing lease and contractual override
Acquisition of contracts

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from loans

Repayment of loans

Deferred financing costs

Repayment of obligation related to acquisitions
Costs associated with equity transactions
Distributions to partners

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
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Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2012 2011
(Unaudited)
(Restated)
$ 153,248 $ 70,929
42,066 51,576
90,932
(8,823) (1,058)
(2,990)
453 493
51
666 (12,770)
369 556
1,055 213
2,771) (1,710)
11,867 24,541
(3,544) (14)
(714) (2,427)
193,872 218,322
(134,463) (107,509)
(681) (325)
15,047 5,500
2,399
(59,009)

(176,707) (102,334)
103,000 335,000
(30,800) (210,519)

2,774)
(500) (7,625)
59) (141)

(181,309) (175,323)

(109,668) (61,382)
(92,503) 54,606
214,922 95,506

$ 122,419 $ 150,112
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Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest

Non-cash activities:
Obligation related to purchase of reserves and infrastructure
Non-controlling interest
Note receivable from sale of asset
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$ 43,113

1,808

$ 37,074
$ 4,100
373

10



Edgar Filing: NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS LP - Form 10-Q

Table of Conten

NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS L.P.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS CAPITAL

Balance at December 31, 2011

Cost associated with equity transactions
Distributions

Net income

Loss on interest hedge

Comprehensive income

Balance at September 30, 2012

(In thousands, except unit data)

Common Units

Units Amounts
106,027,836 $ 629,253
(59)
(174,947)
150,183

106,027,836  $ 604,430

Non- Accumulated
General Controlling Other
Partner Interest Comprehensive
Income
Amounts Amounts (Loss) Total
$ 10,517 $ 5,638 $ 493) $ 644915
(59)
(3,569) (2,793) (181,309)
3,065 153,248
37 37
37 153,285

$10,013 § 2845 $ (456) $ 616,832

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE PARTNERS L.P.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Basis of Presentation and Organization

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all
of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of
management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included.
Operating results for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for
future periods.

You should refer to the information contained in the footnotes included in Natural Resource Partners L.P. s 2011 Annual Report on Form 10-K in
connection with the reading of these unaudited interim consolidated financial statements. The Partnership restated certain income-related items
with respect to 2011 to properly reflect them in the correct quarter. Please read Note 17. Supplemental Financial Information (unaudited) in the
Partnership s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011 for additional information related to the restatements of its prior year interim
financial data.

The Partnership engages principally in the business of owning, managing and leasing mineral properties in the United States. The Partnership
owns coal reserves in the three major coal-producing regions of the United States: Appalachia, the Illinois Basin and the Western United States,
as well as lignite reserves in the Gulf Coast region. The Partnership also owns aggregate reserves in several states across the country. The
Partnership does not operate any mines on its properties, but leases reserves to experienced operators under long-term leases that grant the
operators the right to mine the Partnership s reserves in exchange for royalty payments. Lessees are generally required to make payments based
on the higher of a percentage of the gross sales price or a fixed royalty per ton, in addition to a minimum payment.

In addition, the Partnership owns transportation and preparation equipment, other mineral related rights and oil and gas properties on which it
earns revenue.

The general partner of the Partnership is NRP (GP) LP, a Delaware limited partnership, whose general partner is GP Natural Resource Partners
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

2. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011, the FASB amended the presentation of comprehensive income. The amendments in this update gave the Partnership the option to
present the total comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single
continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements. The amendments in this update also require the
Partnership to present changes in accumulated other comprehensive income by component in the statement of unitholders equity or in the notes
to the financial statements. These amendments are effective for fiscal years and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after
December 15, 2011. The Partnership adopted this amendment on January 1, 2012 and elected to present other comprehensive income in a single
continuous statement, Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. The Partnership also elected to present changes in accumulated other
comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statements of Partners Capital.

In May 2011, the FASB amended fair value measurement and disclosure requirements. The amendments result in common fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs). Some of the amendments
clarify the FASB s intent about the application of existing fair value measurement requirements. Other amendments change a particular principal
or requirement for measuring fair value or for disclosing information about fair value measurements. These amendments are effective for fiscal
years and interim periods within those years, beginning on or after December 15, 2011. The Partnership adopted this amendment on January 1,
2012. The amendment did not have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations, cash flows or notes to the financial
statements.

Other accounting standards that have been issued by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not expected to have a material impact on
the Partnership s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Table of Contents 12
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3. Significant Acquisitions

Colt. In September 2009, the Partnership signed a definitive agreement to acquire approximately 200 million tons of coal reserves related to the
Deer Run Mine in Illinois from Colt, LLC, an affiliate of the Cline Group, through several separate transactions for a total purchase price of
$255 million. During the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2012, the Partnership paid $40.0 million and $80.0 million,
respectively, to complete the acquisition of reserves at this mine.

Oklahoma Oil and Gas. From December 2011 through June 2012, the Partnership acquired approximately 19,200 net mineral acres located in
the Mississippian Lime oil play in Northern Oklahoma for approximately $63.9 million, of which 15,600 net mineral acres were acquired during
the first nine months of 2012 for $51.3 million.

Sugar Camp. In March 2012, the Partnership acquired from Sugar Camp Energy, an affiliate of the Cline Group, the rail loadout and associated
infrastructure assets at the Sugar Camp mine in Illinois for total consideration of $50.0 million. At the time of the acquisition, the Partnership
also entered into a lease agreement related to the rail loadout and associated facilities that has been accounted for as a direct financing lease. The
lease provides for payments based upon tons of coal transported over the facilities subject to quarterly recoupable minimum payments of $1.25
million. The lease is for a term of 20 years but may be extended by the lessee. Total projected remaining payments under the lease at

September 30, 2012 are $97.1 million with unearned income of $47.6 million. The unearned income will be reflected as transportation fees over
the term of the lease using the effective interest method. Any amounts in excess of the contractual minimums will be recorded as transportation
fees as earned. The net amount receivable under the lease as of September 30, 2012 was $50.0 million, of which $1.7 million is included in
accounts receivable  affiliates while the remaining is included in long-term contracts receivable - affiliate. The Partnership recognized $2.6
million in transportation fees during the nine months ended September 30, 2012 related to this lease.

In a separate transaction, the Partnership acquired, from Ruger, LLC, an affiliate of the Cline Group, a contractual overriding royalty interest for
$8.9 million that will provide for payments based upon production from specific tons at the Sugar Camp operations. This overriding royalty was
accounted for as a financing arrangement and is reflected as an affiliate receivable. The payments the Partnership receives with respect to the
overriding royalty will be reflected partially as a return of the initial investment and partially as override revenue over the life of the contract
using the effective interest method based upon actual production and adjusted periodically for differences in projected and actual production.
The net amount receivable under the agreement as of September 30, 2012 was $7.3 million of which $1.1 million is included in accounts
receivable affiliates while the remaining is included in long-term contracts receivable - affiliate. The Partnership recognized $0.8 million in
overriding royalty during the nine months ended September 30, 2012 related to the contractual overriding royalty interest.

4. Plant and Equipment

The Partnership s plant and equipment consist of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Plant construction in process $ $ 78
Plant and equipment at cost 55,271 67,175
Less accumulated depreciation (21,303) (21,068)
Net book value $ 33,968 $ 46,185

Nine months ended

September 30,
2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Total depreciation expense on plant and equipment $ 5,259 $ 6,681
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During the third quarter the Partnership sold a preparation plant to Taggart Global USA, LLC, a related party, for $12.3 million. See Note 9.
Related Party Transactions for an understanding of Taggart and the Partnership s relationship. The Partnership received $10.5 million in cash and
a note receivable from Taggart, payable over three years for the balance. The note receivable balance at September 30, 2012 was $1.8 million.
The Partnership recorded a gain of $4.7 million included in Other income of the Consolidated Statements of Income for the third quarter of
2012. The net book value of the asset sold was $7.6 million.

5. Coal and Other Mineral Rights

The Partnership s coal and other mineral rights consist of the following:

September 30, December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Coal and other mineral rights $1,774,297 $ 1,645,451
Less accumulated depletion and amortization (421,497) (387,950)
Net book value $ 1,352,800 $ 1,257,501

Nine months ended

September 30,
2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
(Restated)
Total depletion and amortization expense on coal and other mineral rights $ 33,547 $ 36,646

6. Intangible Assets

Amounts recorded as intangible assets along with the balances and accumulated amortization are reflected in the table below:

September 30, December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Contract intangibles $ 89,420 $ 89,420
Less accumulated amortization (17,520) (14,256)
Net book value $ 71,900 $ 75,164

Nine months ended
September 30,
2012 2011
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Table of Contents 16
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The estimates of future amortization expense relating to intangible assets for the periods indicated below are based on current mining plans,

which are subject to revision in future periods.

Remainder of 2012

For year ended December 31, 2013

For year ended December 31, 2014

For year ended December 31, 2015

For year ended December 31, 2016
7. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following:

$300 million floating rate revolving credit facility, due August 2016

5.55% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in June and December, maturing June 2013
4.91% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in June and December, with annual principal
payments in June, maturing in June 2018

8.38% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in March and September, with scheduled principal
payments beginning March 2013, maturing in March 2019

5.05% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in January and July, with annual principal
payments in July, maturing in July 2020

5.31% utility local improvement obligation, with annual principal and interest payments, maturing in
March 2021

5.55% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in June and December, with annual principal
payments in June, maturing in June 2023

4.73% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in June and December, with scheduled principal
payments beginning December 2014, maturing in December 2023

5.82% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in March and September, with annual principal
payments in March, maturing in March 2024

8.92% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in March and September, with scheduled principal
payments beginning March 2014, maturing in March 2024

5.03% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in June and December, with scheduled principal
payments beginning December 2014, maturing in December 2026

5.18% senior notes, with semi-annual interest payments in June and December, with scheduled principal
payments beginning December 2014, maturing in December 2026

Total debt
Less current portion of long term debt

Long-term debt

11
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Estimated
Amortization
Expense
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
$ 503
4,664
4,500
4,500
4,500
September 30, December 31,
2012 2011
(In thousands)
$ 103,000 $
35,000 35,000
27,700 32,317
150,000 150,000
61,538 69,230
1,731 1,922
30,300 33,600
75,000 75,000
180,000 195,000
50,000 50,000
175,000 175,000
50,000 50,000
939,269 867,069
(87,230) (30,801)
$ 852,039 $ 836,268
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Principal payments due in:

Senior Notes Credit Facility Total
(In thousands)

Remainder of 2012 $ $ $
2013 87,230 87,230
2014 80,983 80,983
2015 80,983 80,983
2016 80,983 103,000 183,983
Thereafter 506,090 506,090

$ 836,269 $ 103,000 $ 939,269

The senior note purchase agreement contains covenants requiring our operating subsidiary to:

Maintain a ratio of consolidated indebtedness to consolidated EBITDDA (as defined in the note purchase agreement) of no more than
4.0 to 1.0 for the four most recent quarters;

not permit debt secured by certain liens and debt of subsidiaries to exceed 10% of consolidated net tangible assets (as defined in the
note purchase agreement); and

maintain the ratio of consolidated EBITDDA to consolidated fixed charges (consisting of consolidated interest expense and
consolidated operating lease expense) at not less than 3.5 to 1.0.
The 8.38% and 8.92% senior notes also provide that in the event that the Partnership s leverage ratio exceeds 3.75 to 1.00 at the end of any fiscal
quarter, then in addition to all other interest accruing on these notes, additional interest in the amount of 2.00% per annum shall accrue on the
notes for the two succeeding quarters and for as long thereafter as the leverage ratio remains above 3.75 to 1.00.

The Partnership made principal payments of $30.8 million on its senior notes during the nine months ended September 30, 2012.

At September 30, 2012, the Partnership had $103 million outstanding on its revolving credit facility; while at December 31, 2011 the Partnership
did not have any outstanding balance. The weighted average interest rates for the nine months ended September 30, 2012 and year ended
December 31, 2011 were 2.13% and 1.83%, respectively. The Partnership incurs a commitment fee on the undrawn portion of the revolving
credit facility at rates ranging from 0.18% to 0.40% per annum. The facility includes an accordion feature whereby the Partnership may request
its lenders to increase their aggregate commitment to a maximum of $500 million on the same terms.

The revolving credit facility contains covenants requiring the Partnership to maintain:

a ratio of consolidated indebtedness to consolidated EBITDDA (as defined in the credit agreement) not to exceed 4.0 to 1.0 and,

a ratio of consolidated EBITDDA to consolidated fixed charges (consisting of consolidated interest expense and consolidated lease
operating expense) of not less than 3.5 to 1.0 for the four most recent quarters.
The Partnership was in compliance with all terms under its long-term debt as of September 30, 2012.
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8. Fair Value

The Partnership s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and long-term debt. The
carrying amount of the Partnership s financial instruments included in accounts receivable and accounts payable approximates their fair value due
to their short-term nature except for the accounts receivable affiliate relating to the Sugar Camp override and Taggart preparation plant sale that
includes both current and long-term portions. The Partnership s cash and cash equivalents include money market accounts and are considered a
Level 1 measurement. The fair market value and carrying value of the contractual override, Taggart note receivable and long-term senior notes

are as follows:

Fair Value As Of Carrying Value As Of
September 30,2012  December 31, 2011 September 30,2012  December 31, 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Assets
Sugar Camp override, current

and long - term $ 8,724 $ $ 7,294 $
Taggart plant sale, current

and long-term $ 1,808 $ $ 1,808 $
Liabilities
Long-term debt, current and long-term $ 881,023 $ 915,959 $ 836,269 $ 867,069

The fair value of the Sugar Camp override, Taggart plant sale and long-term debt is estimated by management using comparable term risk-free
treasury issues with a market rate component determined by current financial instruments with similar characteristics which is a Level 3
measurement. Since the Partnership s credit facility is variable rate debt, its fair value approximates its carrying amount.

9. Related Party Transactions
Reimbursements to Affiliates of our General Partner

The Partnership s general partner does not receive any management fee or other compensation for its management of Natural Resource Partners
L.P. However, in accordance with the partnership agreement, the general partner and its affiliates are reimbursed for expenses incurred on the
Partnership s behalf. All direct general and administrative expenses are charged to the Partnership as incurred. The Partnership also reimburses
indirect general and administrative costs, including certain legal, accounting, treasury, information technology, insurance, administration of
employee benefits and other corporate services incurred by our general partner and its affiliates. The Partnership had an amount payable to
Quintana Minerals Corporation of $0.3 million at September 30, 2012 for services provided by Quintana to the Partnership and a payable of $0.3
million to Western Pocahontas Properties for an overriding royalty interest on one of the Partnership s leases.

The reimbursements to affiliates of the Partnership s general partner for services performed by Western Pocahontas Properties and Quintana
Minerals Corporation are as follows:

Three Months

Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)
Reimbursement for services $2,303 $2,050 $7,230 $ 6,203

The Partnership also leases an office building in Huntington, West Virginia from Western Pocahontas Properties and pays $0.6 million in lease
payments each year through December 31, 2018.
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Cline Affiliates

Various companies controlled by Chris Cline lease coal reserves from the Partnership, and the Partnership provides coal transportation services
to them for a fee. At September 30, 2012, Mr. Cline, both individually and through another affiliate, Adena Minerals, LLC, owns a 31% interest
in the Partnership s general partner, as well as 12,617,673 common units. Revenues from the Cline affiliates are as follows:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
(Restated) (Restated)
Coal royalty revenues $12,894 $ 14,790 $ 34,351 $ 30,673
Processing fees 715 885 1,745 2,078
Transportation fees 5,008 4,765 14,362 12,609
Minimums recognized as revenue 9,556
Override revenue 1,075 704 2,768 1,384
Other revenue 2,990

$19,692 $ 21,144 $62,782 $ 49,734

At September 30, 2012, the Partnership had amounts due from Cline affiliates totaling $62.9 million, of which $57.3 million was attributable to
agreements relating to the recent Sugar Camp acquisition. See Note 3.  Significant Acquisitions for further disclosure relating to the Sugar Camp
agreements. The Partnership had received $57.7 million in minimum royalty payments that have not been recouped by Cline affiliates, of which
$20.8 million was received in the current year. The $9.6 million in minimums recognized as revenue during the first nine months of 2012 was
attributable to an agreement in 2012 by Gatling Ohio, LLC to relinquish its recoupment rights.

During 2011, the Partnership recognized a $3.0 million gain on a reserve exchange of over one million tons in Illinois with Williamson Energy,
a Cline affiliate. The fair value of the reserves was estimated using Level 3 cash flow approach. The expected cash flows were developed using
estimated annual sales tons, forecasted sales prices and anticipated market royalty rates. The tons received will be fully mined during 2012,
while the tons exchanged are not included in the current mine plans. The gain is included in Other revenues on the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income.

Quintana Capital Group GP, Ltd.

Corbin J. Robertson, Jr. is a principal in Quintana Capital Group GP, Ltd., which controls several private equity funds focused on investments in
the energy business. In connection with the formation of Quintana Capital, the Partnership adopted a formal conflicts policy that establishes the
opportunities that will be pursued by the Partnership and those that will be pursued by Quintana Capital. The governance documents of Quintana
Capital s affiliated investment funds reflect the guidelines set forth in NRP s conflicts policy.

A fund controlled by Quintana Capital owns a significant membership interest in Taggart Global USA, LLC, including the right to nominate two
members of Taggart s 5-person board of directors. The Partnership owns and leases preparation plants to Taggart Global, which designs, builds
and operates the plants. The lease payments are based on the sales price for the coal that is processed through the facilities. During the third
quarter, the Partnership sold a preparation plant to Taggart for $12.3 million. The Partnership received $10.5 million in cash and a note
receivable from Taggart, payable over three years for the balance. As a result of the sale, the Partnership recorded a gain of $4.7 million included
in Other revenue in the Statements of Comprehensive Income. The note receivable balance at September 30, 2012 was $1.8 million.
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The Partnership currently leases three facilities to Taggart. Revenues from Taggart are as follows:

Three Months
Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands) (In thousands)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Processing fees $ 664 $2,962 $4,321 $7,587

At September 30, 2012, the Partnership had accounts receivable of $0.7 million from Taggart.

A fund controlled by Quintana Capital owns Kopper-Glo, a small coal mining company that is one of the Partnership s lessees with operations in
Tennessee. Revenues from Kopper-Glo are as follows:

Three Months
Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands) (In thousands)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Coal royalty revenues $ 996 $ 440 $2,594 $1,192

The Partnership also had accounts receivable totaling $0.4 million from Kopper-Glo at September 30, 2012.
10. Commitments and Contingencies
Legal

The Partnership is involved, from time to time, in various legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While the ultimate results
of these proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, Partnership management believes these claims will not have a material effect on the
Partnership s financial position, liquidity or operations.

Environmental Compliance

The operations that the Partnership s lessees conduct on the Partnership s properties are subject to environmental laws and regulations adopted by
various governmental authorities in the jurisdictions in which these operations are conducted. As an owner of coal reserves, as well as surface
interests in some properties, the Partnership may be liable for environmental conditions occurring at the Partnership s properties. The terms of
substantially all of the Partnership s leases require the lessee to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, including environmental laws
and regulations. Lessees post reclamation bonds assuring that reclamation will be completed as required by the relevant permit, and substantially
all of the leases require the lessee to indemnify the Partnership against, among other things, environmental liabilities. Some of these
indemnifications survive the termination of the lease. The Partnership makes regular visits to the mines to ensure compliance with lease terms,
but the duty to comply with all regulations rests with the lessees. The Partnership believes that its lessees will be able to comply with existing
regulations and does not expect any lessee s failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations to have a material impact on the
Partnership s financial condition or results of operations. The Partnership also carries pollution liability insurance, and West Virginia has
established a fund to satisfy any shortfall in the Partnership s lessees reclamation obligations, but this fund may not be sufficient to cover the
Partnership s costs in the event that it is determined to be responsible for environmental contamination.
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The Partnership s lessees regularly conduct reclamation work on the properties under lease to them. Because the Partnership is not the permittee
of the operations on its properties, the Partnership is not responsible for the costs associated with the reclamation. However, the Partnership has
received a Notice of Intent to File a Citizen Suit in connection with alleged selenium discharges from one of its properties in West Virginia.
Mining has now ceased on the property, but was originally conducted by Pittston Coal Company, which assigned the lease to Massey Energy,
which subsequently merged with Alpha Natural Resources. The reclamation has been completed and the permits and bonding have been
released, leading the plaintiffs to name the Partnership as the party responsible for the alleged discharge since the Partnership is the current
owner of the property. Several other landowners have recently received similar notices, but these are the first instances of which the Partnership
is aware that have targeted landowners
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rather than the mining companies. As of September 30, 2012, the Partnership had not been sued in connection with the notice. Although this
particular litigation, if filed, would not be material to the Partnership, to the extent that the Partnership is not successful in defending these types
of claims, does not receive indemnity under its leases or the claims are not covered by the Partnership s pollution liability insurance, or to the
extent that these types of claims become more pervasive in the future, these issues could become material to NRP.

11. Major Lessees

Revenues from lessees that exceeded ten percent of total revenues for the periods are presented below:

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended
September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(Dollars in thousands) (Dollars in thousands)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(Restated) (Restated)
Revenues Percent RevenueRercent Revenues  Percent Revenues  Percent

Alpha Natural Resources $19,731 21%27,718 27% $64,118 23%  $82,010 29%
The Cline Group $ 19,692 21%21,144 20% $62,782 23%  $49,734 17%

In the first nine months of 2012, the Partnership derived over 46% of its total revenue from the two companies listed above. As a result, the
Partnership has a significant concentration of revenues with those lessees, although in most cases, with the exception of the Williamson mine
operated by an affiliate of the Cline group, the exposure is spread out over a number of different mining operations and leases. Cline s
Williamson mine alone was responsible for approximately 13% of the Partnership s total revenues for the first nine months of 2012.

12. Incentive Plans

GP Natural Resource Partners LLC adopted the Natural Resource Partners Long-Term Incentive Plan (the Long-Term Incentive Plan ) for
directors of GP Natural Resource Partners LLC and employees of its affiliates who perform services for the Partnership. The Compensation,
Nominating and Governance ( CNG ) Committee of GP Natural Resource Partners LLC s board of directors administers the Long-Term Incentive
Plan. Subject to the rules of the exchange upon which the common units are listed at the time, the board of directors and the CNG Committee of

the board of directors have the right to alter or amend the Long-Term Incentive Plan or any part of the Long-Term Incentive Plan from time to

time. Except upon the occurrence of unusual or nonrecurring events, no change in any outstanding grant may be made that would materially

reduce the benefit intended to be made available to a participant without the consent of the participant.

Under the plan a grantee will receive the market value of a common unit in cash upon vesting. Market value is defined as the average closing
price over the last 20 trading days prior to the vesting date. The CNG Committee may make grants under the Long-Term Incentive Plan to
employees and directors containing such terms as it determines, including the vesting period. Outstanding grants vest upon a change in control

of the Partnership, the general partner, or GP Natural Resource Partners LLC. If a grantee s employment or membership on the board of directors
terminates for any reason, outstanding grants will be automatically forfeited unless and to the extent the CNG Committee provides otherwise.

A summary of activity in the outstanding grants during 2012 is as follows:

Outstanding grants at January 1, 2012 870,760
Grants during the year 272,150
Grants vested and paid during the year (189,736)
Forfeitures during the year (27,196)
Outstanding grants at September 30, 2012 925,978
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Grants typically vest at the end of a four-year period and are paid in cash upon vesting. The liability fluctuates with the market value of the
Partnership units and because of changes in estimated fair value determined each quarter using the Black-Scholes option valuation model. Risk
free interest rates and volatility are reset at each calculation based on current rates corresponding to the remaining vesting term for each
outstanding grant and ranged from 0.18% to 0.31% and 30.79% to 34.63%, respectively at September 30, 2012. The Partnership s average
distribution rate of 6.95% and historical forfeiture rate of 3.80% were used in the calculation at September 30, 2012. The Partnership recorded
expenses related to its plan to be reimbursed to its general partner of $1.2 million and $0.6 million and $3.6 million and $6.1 million for the three
and nine month periods ended September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively. In connection with the Long-Term Incentive Plan, payments are
typically made during the first quarter of the year. Payments of $6.6 million and $5.7 million were made during the nine month periods ended
September 30, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

In connection with the phantom unit awards granted since February 2008, the CNG Committee also granted tandem Distribution Equivalent
Rights, or DERs, which entitle the holders to receive distributions equal to the distributions paid on the Partnership s common units. The DERs
are payable in cash upon vesting but may be subject to forfeiture if the grantee ceases employment prior to vesting.

The unaccrued cost, associated with the unvested outstanding grants and related DERs at September 30, 2012, was $10.8 million.
13. Distributions

On August 14, 2012, the Partnership paid a quarterly distribution $0.55 per unit to all holders of common units on August 3, 2012.
14. Subsequent Events

The following represents material events that have occurred subsequent to September 30, 2012 through the time of the Partnership s filing with
the Securities and Exchange Commission:

Distributions

On October 17, 2012, the Partnership declared a distribution of $0.55 per unit to be paid on November 14, 2012 to unitholders of record on
November 5, 2012.

Acquisition

Hi-Crush Override. On October 30, 2012 the Partnership acquired an overriding royalty interest in frac sand reserves located on approximately
561 acres near Wyeville, Wisconsin for approximately $15.0 million.
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Item 2. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the historical financial
statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this filing and the financial statements and footnotes included in the Natural Resource
Parters L.P. Form 10-K, as filed on February 29, 2012.

Executive Overview
Our Business

We engage principally in the business of owning, managing and leasing mineral properties in the United States. We own coal reserves in the
three major U.S. coal-producing regions: Appalachia, the Illinois Basin and the Western United States, as well as lignite reserves in the Gulf
Coast region. As of December 31, 2011, we owned or controlled approximately 2.3 billion tons of proven and probable coal reserves, and we
also owned approximately 380 million tons of aggregate reserves in a number of states across the country. We do not operate any mines, but
lease our reserves to experienced mine operators under long-term leases that grant the operators the right to mine and sell our reserves in
exchange for royalty payments.

Our revenue and profitability are dependent on our lessees ability to mine and market our reserves. Most of our coal is produced by large
companies, many of which are publicly traded, with experienced and professional sales departments. A significant portion of our coal is sold by
our lessees under coal supply contracts that have terms of one year or more. In contrast, our aggregate properties are typically mined by regional
operators with significant experience and knowledge of the local markets. The aggregates are sold at current market prices, which historically
have increased along with the producer price index for sand and gravel. Over the long term, both our coal and aggregate royalty revenues are
affected by changes in the market for and the market price of the commodities.

In our coal and aggregate royalty business, our lessees generally make payments to us based on the greater of a percentage of the gross sales
price or a fixed royalty per ton of coal or aggregates they sell, subject to minimum monthly, quarterly or annual payments. These minimum
royalties are generally recoupable over a specified period of time, which varies by lease, if sufficient royalties are generated from production in
those future periods. We do not recognize these minimum royalties as revenue until the applicable recoupment period has expired or they are
recouped through production. Until recognized as revenue, these minimum royalties are recorded as deferred revenue, a liability on our balance
sheet.

During the first nine months of 2012, we generated $78.6 million of our revenues from sources other than coal and aggregate royalty revenues,
compared to $67.8 million for the same period in 2011. The 16% increase was primarily due to the recognition as revenue of $9.6 million in
minimum royalties associated with the Gatling Ohio mine. We also recognized $8.5 million from the sale of assets, including $3.8 million from
the sale of a right of way to the West Virginia Department of Highways for highway construction and $4.7 million from the sale of a preparation
plant.

In addition to the minimums recognized as revenue and gains on sales of assets, other sources of revenue include: processing and transportation
fees; oil and gas royalty revenue, overriding royalties; wheelage payments; rentals; property tax revenue; and timber sales. The processing and
transportation fees and overriding royalties are primarily derived from the coal-related assets.

Our Current Liquidity Position

Our credit facility does not mature until August 2016 and, as of September 30, 2012, we had $197 million in available capacity under the
facility. In addition to the amounts available under our credit facility, we had approximately $122 million in cash at September 30, 2012. We
believe that the combination of our capacity under our credit facility and our cash on hand gives us enough liquidity to meet our current financial
needs.

Other than a $35 million senior note that we intend to refinance prior to its maturity in 2013, we make annual principal payments on all our
long-term debt. Although these annual payments will increase significantly beginning in 2013, we have no need to access the capital markets to
pay off or refinance any of our senior note obligations other than the one note. As a result of our amortization program on our senior notes, our
outstanding principal balance will be reduced on our long-term debt as our minerals are depleted. We do typically access the capital markets to
refinance amounts outstanding under our credit facility as we approach the limits under that facility, the timing of which depends on the pace
and size of our acquisition program.
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Current Results/Market Outlook

For the nine months ended September 30, 2012, our lessees produced 41.4 million tons of coal and aggregates, generating $198.1 million in
royalty revenues from our properties, and our total revenues were $276.7 million. We continue to have substantial exposure to metallurgical
coal, from which we derived approximately 44% of our coal royalty revenues and 33% of the related production. While the demand for domestic
steel was strong over the first half of the year, it began to decline in the third quarter, and prices for metallurgical coal have dropped significantly
over the last few months. Primarily as a result of lower metallurgical prices and demand, but also due to the continued weakness in the steam
coal market, our coal royalty revenues from Central Appalachia declined materially in the third quarter as compared to the same quarter in 2011.
However, over the nine months ended September 30, 2012, we saw the benefits of the diversity of our assets, with significant improvements in
coal royalty revenues from our Illinois and Southern Appalachia properties offsetting much of the decline in Central Appalachia.

The market for steam coal remained soft as expected in the first nine months, with extremely low natural gas prices resulting in significant
displacement of coal by gas for domestic power production. Further, the federal government regulations dealing with air quality at power plants
have led to the announcement of planned closures of a number of coal-fired power plants, which will have an impact on future demand. In
response to these events, a number of coal companies reduced their production in the first nine months of the year, which has resulted in lower
production from our properties but has helped to sustain the prices received by our lessees. As natural gas prices have risen over the past few
months, the demand for steam coal has showed signs of strengthening, particularly in the Powder River Basin and to some extent in the Illinois
Basin, but we do not expect to see any material improvements in our results through the end of the year.

Growth Through Acquisitions

We have continued to diversify our holdings by expanding our coal presence in the Illinois Basin and through additional aggregates and other
mineral acquisitions, including oil and gas royalties. In addition to the Oklahoma oil and gas properties we acquired over the first six months of
2012, in March we acquired a coal rail loadout and associated infrastructure in Illinois and entered into a lease with Sugar Camp Energy
pursuant to which we receive throughput fees for coal transported through our facility. We also acquired a contractual overriding royalty at
Cline s Sugar Camp mine in Illinois following the start-up of the longwall operation at that mine.

In August 2012, we completed the final acquisition of reserves at Cline s Deer Run mine in Hillsboro, Illinois for $40 million in connection with
the start-up of the longwall unit at that mine. We have been receiving significant minimum royalty payments with respect to that mine, but
anticipate that our revenues from the mine will increase substantially over the next year as the longwall unit ramps up production.

Political, Legal and Regulatory Environment

The political, legal and regulatory environment continues to be difficult for the coal industry. The Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA,

has used its authority to create significant delays in the issuance of new permits and the modification of existing permits, which has led to
substantial delays and increased costs for coal operators. In addition to its involvement in the permitting process, in December 2009, the EPA
determined that six greenhouse gases, including carbon dioxide and methane, endanger the public health and welfare of current and future
generations. In Coalition for Responsible Regulation v. EPA, several petitioners challenged the EPA s findings, but in June 2012 the D.C. Circuit
Court upheld all of the regulations promulgated by the EPA. The petitioners have appealed the ruling and have requested to have several issues

in the case heard en banc, but the ruling was a significant victory for the EPA.

Over the past year, the industry has successfully challenged EPA policy, regulations and guidance in several other court decisions, including
Mingo Logan Coal Co. v. EPA, National Mining Association v. Jackson, and EME Homer City Generation, L.P. v. EPA. While each of these
cases has unique facts and circumstances, the general theme in these cases is that the EPA has overreached its authority in a number of instances.
However, the EPA has continued to promulgate regulations that will negatively affect the viability of coal-fired generation, which will
ultimately reduce coal consumption and the production of coal from our properties. Additionally, citizens groups have continued to be active in
bringing lawsuits against operators, as well as challenging permits issued by the Army Corps of Engineers.

In addition to the increased oversight of the EPA, the Mine Safety and Health Administration, or MSHA, has increased its involvement in the
approval of plans and enforcement of safety issues in connection with mining. MSHA s involvement has increased the cost of mining due to
more frequent citations and much higher fines imposed on our lessees as well as the overall cost of
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regulatory compliance. Combined with the difficult economic environment and the higher costs of mining in general, MSHA s recent increased
participation in the mine development process has reduced production from mines, caused some mines to be idled and has delayed the opening
of new mines.

Distributable Cash Flow

Under our partnership agreement, we are required to distribute all of our available cash each quarter. Because distributable cash flow is a
significant liquidity metric that is an indicator of our ability to generate cash flows at a level that can sustain or support an increase in quarterly
cash distributions paid to our partners, we view it as the most important measure of our success as a company. Distributable cash flow is also the
quantitative standard used in the investment community with respect to publicly traded partnerships.

Our distributable cash flow represents cash flow from operations, proceeds from sale of assets and return on direct financing lease and
contractual override less actual principal payments and cash reserves set aside for scheduled principal payments on our senior notes. Although
distributable cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure, we believe it is a useful adjunct to net cash provided by operating activities under
GAAP. Distributable cash flow is not a measure of financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to cash
flows from operating, investing or financing activities. Distributable cash flow may not be calculated the same for NRP as for other companies.
A reconciliation of distributable cash flow to net cash provided by operating activities is set forth below.

Reconciliation of GAAP Net cash provided by operating activities

to Non-GAAP_ Distributable cash flow

For the Three Months Ended For the Nine Months Ended

September 30, September 30,
2012 2011 2012 2011
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 61,865 $ 79,642 $ 193,872 $218,322

Less scheduled principal payments (7,692) (7,692) (30,800) (31,518)

Less reserves for future principal payments (13,059) (7,700) (39,175) (23,459)

Add reserves used for scheduled principal payments 7,692 7,692 30,800 31,518

Return on direct financing lease and contractual override 1,495 2,399

Proceeds from sale of assets 14,762 4,500 15,047 5,500

Distributable cash flow $ 65,063 $ 76,442 $172,143 $ 200,363
Recent Acquisitions
3

to provide for uncertificated securities in addition to or in place of certificated securities; provided that the
uncertificated securities are issued in registered form for certain federal tax purposes;

(9)t0 provide for the terms and conditions of converting those debt securities that are convertible into common stock
or another such similar security;
(10)to secure any series of debt securities;
(11)to add guarantees in respect of any series or all of the debt securities;
a 2)t0 make any change necessary to comply with any requirement of the SEC in connection with the qualification of
the applicable indenture or any supplemental indenture under the TIA; and
(13)to make any other change that does not adversely affect the rights of the holders of the debt securities.
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No supplemental indenture for the purpose identified in clauses (2), (3) or (5) above may be entered into if to do so
would adversely affect the rights of the holders of debt securities of any series issued under the same indenture in any
material respect.

Except as set forth in the prospectus supplement relating to such series of debt securities, each indenture will contain
provisions permitting us and the trustee under such indenture, with the consent of the holders of a majority in principal
amount of the outstanding debt securities of all series issued under such indenture to be affected voting as a single
class, to execute supplemental indentures for the purpose of adding any provisions to or changing or eliminating any
of the provisions of the applicable indenture or modifying the rights of the holders of the debt securities of such series
to be affected, except that no such supplemental indenture may, without the consent of the holders of affected debt
securities, among other things:

change the maturity of the principal of, or the maturity of any premium on, or any installment of interest on, any such
debt security, or reduce the principal amount or the interest or any premium of any such debt securities, or change the
method of computing the amount of principal or interest on any such debt securities on any date or change any place
of payment where, or the currency in which, any debt securities or any premium or interest
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thereon is payable, or impair the right to institute suit for the enforcement of any such payment on or after the maturity
of principal or premium, as the case may be;

reduce the percentage in principal amount of any such debt securities the consent of whose holders is required for any
supplemental indenture, waiver of compliance with certain provisions of the applicable indenture or certain defaults
under the applicable indenture;

modify any of the provisions of the applicable indenture related to (i) the requirement that the holders of debt
securities issued under such indenture consent to certain amendments of the applicable indenture, (ii) the waiver of
past defaults and (iii) the waiver of certain covenants, except to increase the percentage of holders required to make
such amendments or grant such waivers; or

impair or adversely affect the right of any holder to institute suit for the enforcement of any payment on, or with
respect to, such senior debt securities on or after the maturity of such debt securities.

In addition, the subordinated indenture will provide that we may not make any change in the terms of the
subordination of the subordinated debt securities of any series in a manner adverse in any material respect to the
holders of any series of subordinated debt securities without the consent of each holder of subordinated debt securities
that would be adversely affected.

The Trustee

The trustee shall be named in the applicable prospectus supplement.

Governing Law

The indentures will be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York.

Global Securities

We may issue debt securities through global securities. A global security is a security, typically held by a depositary,
that represents the beneficial interests of a number of purchasers of the security. If we do issue global securities, the
following procedures will apply.

We will deposit global securities with the depositary identified in the prospectus supplement. After we issue a global
security, the depositary will credit on its book-entry registration and transfer system the respective principal amounts
of the debt securities represented by the global security to the accounts of persons who have accounts with the
depositary. These account holders are known as “participants.” The underwriters or agents participating in the
distribution of the debt securities will designate the accounts to be credited. Only a participant or a person who holds
an interest through a participant may be the beneficial owner of a global security. Ownership of beneficial interests in
the global security will be shown on, and the transfer of that ownership will be effected only through, records
maintained by the depositary and its participants.

We and the trustee will treat the depositary or its nominee as the sole owner or holder of the debt securities
represented by a global security. Except as set forth below, owners of beneficial interests in a global security will not
be entitled to have the debt securities represented by the global security registered in their names. They also will not
receive or be entitled to receive physical delivery of the debt securities in definitive form and will not be considered
the owners or holders of the debt securities.

Principal, any premium and any interest payments on debt securities represented by a global security registered in the
name of a depositary or its nominee will be made to the depositary or its nominee as the registered owner of the global
security. None of us, the trustee or any paying agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the
records relating to or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in the global security or
maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to the beneficial ownership interests.

We expect that the depositary, upon receipt of any payments, will immediately credit participants’ accounts with
payments in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the global
security as shown on the depositary’s records. We also expect that payments by participants to owners of beneficial
interests in the global security will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with
the securities held for the accounts of customers registered in “street names,” and will be the responsibility of the
participants.

If the depositary is at any time unwilling or unable to continue as depositary and a successor depositary is not
appointed by us within 90 days, we will issue registered securities in exchange for the global security. In addition, we
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may at any time in our sole discretion determine not to have any of the debt securities of a series represented by global

securities. In that event, we will issue debt securities of that series in definitive form in exchange for the global
securities.
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CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE MARYLAND GENERAL CORPORATION LAW AND OUR CHARTER AND
BYLAWS

The following summary description of certain provisions of the MGCL and our charter and articles supplementary
thereto relating to our preferred stock and bylaws do not purport to be complete and are subject to and qualified in
their entirety by reference to the MGCL and the actual provisions of our charter and articles supplementary thereto
and our bylaws, copies of which are incorporated by reference as exhibits to the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part. See “Where You Can Find More Information” and “Incorporation of Certain Documents by
Reference.”

Our Board of Directors

Our bylaws and charter provide that the number of directors we have may be established by our board of directors but
may not be less than the minimum number required by the MGCL, nor more than 15. Pursuant to our charter, our
board is composed of nine directors - four of whom are affiliated and five of whom are independent as of the date
hereof. Our bylaws currently provide that any vacancy may be filled only by a majority of the remaining directors.
Any individual elected to fill such vacancy will serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until a
successor is duly elected and qualifies.

Pursuant to our bylaws, each of our directors is elected by our common stockholders entitled to vote to serve until the
next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her successor is duly elected and qualifies. Holders of shares of
common stock will have no right to cumulative voting in the election of directors. Consequently, at each annual
meeting of stockholders, the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock entitled to vote will be able to elect
all of our directors. Holders of our preferred stock do not have voting rights, except under limited circumstances.
Removal of Directors

Our charter provides that a director may be removed, with or without cause, and only by the affirmative vote of the
holders of shares entitled to cast at least two thirds of all the votes of common stockholders entitled to be cast
generally in the election of directors. This provision, when coupled with the power of our board of directors to fill
vacancies on the board of directors, precludes stockholders from (1) removing incumbent directors except upon a
substantial affirmative vote and (2) filling the vacancies created by such removal with their own nominees.

Business Combinations

Under the MGCL, certain “business combinations” (including a merger, consolidation, share exchange or, in certain
circumstances, an asset transfer or issuance or reclassification of equity securities) between a Maryland corporation
and an interested stockholder (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or
more of the voting power of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock or an affiliate or associate of the corporation
who, at any time within the two-year period immediately prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner of
10% or more of the voting power of the then-outstanding stock of the corporation) or an affiliate of such an interested
stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an
interested stockholder. Thereafter, any such business combination must be recommended by the board of directors of
such corporation and approved by the affirmative vote of at least (a) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of
outstanding voting shares of stock of the corporation and (b) two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of
voting stock of the corporation other than shares held by the interested stockholder with whom (or with whose
affiliate) the business combination is to be effected or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder,
unless, among other conditions, the corporation’s common stockholders receive a minimum price (as defined in the
MGCL) for their shares and the consideration is received in cash or in the same form as previously paid by the
interested stockholder for its shares. Our board of directors may provide that the board’s approval is subject to
compliance with any terms and conditions determined by the board of directors.

These provisions of the MGCL do not apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted by a
board of directors prior to the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Pursuant to the
statute, our board of directors has by resolution exempted business combinations (1) between us and any person,
provided that such business combination is first approved by our board of directors (including a majority of its
directors who are not affiliates or associates of such person) and (2) between us and ACM or its affiliates.
Consequently, the five-year prohibition and the supermajority vote requirements will not apply to business
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combinations between us and such persons. As a result, any person described above may be able to enter into business
combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of our stockholders without compliance by us with the
supermajority vote requirements and other provisions of the statute.

The business combination statute may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the
difficulty of consummating any offer.
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Control Share Acquisitions

The MGCL provides that “control shares” of a Maryland corporation acquired in a “control share acquisition” have no
voting rights except to the extent approved at a special meeting of stockholders by the affirmative vote of two-thirds
of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding shares of stock in a corporation in respect of which any of the
following persons is entitled to exercise or direct the exercise of the voting power of such shares in the election of
directors: (1) a person who makes or proposes to make a control share acquisition, (2) an officer of the corporation or
(3) an employee of the corporation who is also a director of the corporation. “Control shares” are voting shares of stock
which, if aggregated with all other such shares of stock previously acquired by the acquirer, or in respect of which the
acquirer is able to exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would
entitle the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing directors within one of the following ranges of voting power:
(A) one-tenth or more but less than one-third; (B) one-third or more but less than a majority; or (C) a majority or more
of all voting power. Control shares do not include shares that the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of
having previously obtained stockholder approval. A “control share acquisition” means the acquisition of control shares,
subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition, upon satisfaction of certain conditions
(including an undertaking to pay expenses and making an “acquiring person statement” as described in the MGCL), may
compel our board of directors to call a special meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to
consider the voting rights of the shares. If no request for a meeting is made, the corporation may itself present the
question at any stockholders meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an “acquiring person
statement” as required by the statute, then, subject to certain conditions and limitations, the corporation may redeem
any or all of the control shares (except those for which voting rights have previously been approved) for fair value
determined, without regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share
acquisition by the acquirer or of any meeting of stockholders at which the voting rights of such shares are considered
and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a stockholders meeting and the acquirer becomes
entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair
value of the shares as determined for purposes of such appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share
paid by the acquirer in the control share acquisition.

The control share acquisition statute does not apply to (a) shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share
exchange if the corporation is a party to the transaction or (b) acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or
bylaws of the corporation.

Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions by any
person of shares of our stock. There is no assurance that such provision will not be amended or eliminated at any time
in the future.

Subtitle 8

Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL permits a Maryland corporation with a class of equity securities registered under the
Exchange Act and at least three independent directors to elect to be subject, by provision in its charter or bylaws or a
resolution of its board of directors and notwithstanding any contrary provision in the charter or bylaws, to any or all of
five provisions:

a classified board;

a two-thirds vote requirement for removing a director;

a requirement that the number of directors be fixed only by vote of the directors;

a requirement that a vacancy on the board of directors be filled only by the remaining directors in office and for the
remainder of the full term of the class of directors in which the vacancy occurred; and

& majority requirement for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders.

Our charter provides that, pursuant to Subtitle 8, vacancies on the board of directors may be filled only by the
affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors in office, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a
quorum, and any director elected to fill a vacancy shall serve for the remainder of the full term of the directorship in
which the vacancy occurred. Through provisions in our charter and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle 8, we already (1)
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require the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter
for the removal of any director from the board of directors, which removal will be allowed with or without cause, (2)
vest in the board of directors the exclusive power to fix the number of directorships and (3) require, unless called by
the chairman of the board of directors, chief executive officer, president or the board of directors, the written request
of stockholders of not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at such a meeting to call a special
meeting.
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Meetings of Stockholders

Pursuant to our bylaws, a meeting of our stockholders for the election of directors and the transaction of any business
will be held annually on a date and at the time set by our board of directors. In addition, the chairman of the board of
directors, chief executive officer, president or board of directors may call a special meeting of our stockholders.
Subject to the provisions of our bylaws, a special meeting of our stockholders will also be called by the secretary upon
the written request of the stockholders entitled to cast not less than a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast at the
meeting.

Amendment to Our Charter and Bylaws

Our charter authorizes our board of directors, with the approval of a majority of the entire board of directors, to amend
our charter to increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock or the number of shares of stock
of any class or series without stockholder approval. Otherwise, except for amendments related to removal of directors,
the restrictions on ownership and transfer of shares of our stock and the requirement of a two-thirds vote for
amendments to these provisions (each of which require the affirmative vote of the holders of not less than two-thirds
of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter and the approval of our board of directors), our charter may be
amended only with the approval of the board of directors and the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of all of
the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Our board of directors has the exclusive power to adopt, alter or repeal any provision of our bylaws and to make new
bylaws.

Dissolution

Our dissolution must be approved by a majority of the entire board of directors and the affirmative vote of the holders
of not less than a majority of all of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business

Our bylaws provide that, with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of individuals for election to
the board of directors and the proposal of other business to be considered by stockholders may be made only (1)
pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (2) by or at the direction of our board of directors or (3) by a stockholder who
was a stockholder of record both at the time of giving his notice and at the time of the meeting and who is entitled to
vote at the meeting on the election of directors or on the proposal of other business, as the case maybe, and has
complied with the advance notice provisions set forth in our bylaws.

With respect to special meetings of stockholders, only the business specified in our notice of meeting may be brought
before the meeting. Nominations of individuals for election to our board of directors may be made only (1) by or at
the direction of our board of directors or (2) provided that the board of directors has determined that directors will be
elected at such meeting, by a stockholder who was a stockholder of record both at the time of giving his notice and at
the time of the meeting and who is entitled to vote at the meeting and has complied with the advance notice provisions
set forth in our bylaws.

Anti-takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of Our Charter and Bylaws

Our charter and bylaws and Maryland law contain provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a change in control or
other transaction that might involve a premium price for shares of our common stock or otherwise be in the best
interests of our stockholders, including business combination provisions, supermajority vote requirements and
advance notice requirements for director nominations and stockholder proposals. Likewise, if the provision in the
bylaws opting out of the control share acquisition provisions of the MGCL were rescinded or if we were to opt into
the classified board or other provisions of Subtitle 8, these provisions of the MGCL could have similar anti-takeover
effects.

Indemnification and Limitation of Directors’ and Officers’ Liability

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision eliminating the liability of its
directors and officers to the corporation and its stockholders for money damages except for liability resulting from
actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services or active and deliberate dishonesty that is
established by a final judgment and is material to the cause of action. Our charter contains such a provision that
eliminates such liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.
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The MGCL requires us (unless our charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to indemnify a director or
officer who has been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is
made or
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threatened to be made a party by reason of his or her service in that capacity. The MGCL permits a corporation to
indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements
and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to which they may be made or
threatened to be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that:
the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (1) was
committed in bad faith or (2) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty;
the director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or
in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission
was unlawful.
However, under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify a director or officer in a suit by or in the right
of the corporation in which the director or officer was adjudged liable to the corporation or in a proceeding in which
the director or officer was adjudged liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received. A court may
order indemnification if it determines that the director or officer is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification,
even though the director or officer did not meet the prescribed standard of conduct or was adjudged liable on the basis
that personal benefit was improperly received. However, indemnification for an adverse judgment in a suit by us or in
our right, or for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received, is limited to
expenses.
In addition, the MGCL permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the
corporation’s receipt of:

a written affirmation by the director or officer of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the

standard of conduct necessary for indemnification by the corporation; and
a written undertaking by the director or officer or on the director’s or officer’s behalf to repay the amount paid or
reimbursed by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the director or officer did not meet the standard of
conduct.
Our charter authorizes us to obligate ourselves and our bylaws obligate us, to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law in effect from time to time, to indemnify and, without requiring a preliminary determination of the
ultimate entitlement to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a
proceeding to:
any present or former director or officer of ours who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by
reason of his or her service in that capacity; or
any individual who, while a director or officer of ours and at our request, serves or has served another corporation,
REIT, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise as a director, officer, partner or
trustee of such corporation, REIT, partnership, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who
is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity.
Our charter and bylaws also permit us, with the approval of our board of directors, to indemnify and advance expenses
to any person who served a predecessor of ours in any of the capacities described above and to any employee or agent
of ours or a predecessor of ours.
Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of directors, officers or persons controlling us for liability
arising under the Securities Act, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification is against
public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore unenforceable.
REIT Qualification
Our charter provides that our board of directors may revoke or otherwise terminate our REIT election, without
approval of our stockholders, if it determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify as a REIT.
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U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax considerations relating to the qualification and
taxation of ARMOUR and the acquisition, holding and disposition of our common stock. For purposes of this section,
references to “ARMOUR,” “our,” “us” or “we” mean only ARMOUR Residential REIT, Inc. and not any of its subsidiaries or
other lower-tier entities except as otherwise indicated. This summary is based upon the Code, the regulations
promulgated by the U.S. Treasury Department, or the Treasury Regulations, current administrative interpretations and
practices of the IRS (including administrative interpretations and practices expressed in private letter rulings which are
binding on the IRS only with respect to the particular taxpayers who requested and received those rulings) and judicial
decisions, all as currently in effect and all of which are subject to differing interpretations or to change, possibly with
retroactive effect. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a
position contrary to any of the tax considerations described below. No advance ruling has been or will be sought from
the IRS regarding any matter discussed in this summary. The summary is also based upon the assumption that our
operation, and the operation of our subsidiaries and other lower-tier and affiliated entities will, in each case, be in
accordance with such entity’s applicable organizational documents. This summary does not discuss the impact that
U.S. state and local taxes, U.S. estate and gift taxes and any taxes imposed by non-U.S. jurisdictions could have on the
matters discussed in this summary. This summary is for general information only, and does not purport to discuss all
aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be important to a particular stockholder in light of its investment or
tax circumstances or to stockholders subject to special tax rules, such as:

U.S. expatriates;

persons who mark-to-market our

common stock;

subchapter S corporations;

U.S. stockholders (as defined below) whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar;

financial institutions;

fnsurance companies;

broker-dealers;

regulated investment companies (or “RICs”);

REITs;

¢rusts and estates;

holders who receive our common stock through the exercise of employee stock options or otherwise as compensation;
persons holding our common stock as part of a “straddle,” “hedge,” “conversion transaction,” “synthetic security” or other
integrated investment;

persons subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code;

persons holding their interest in us through a partnership or similar pass-through entity;

persons holding a 10% or more (by vote or value) beneficial interest in us;

tax-exempt organizations;

stockholders subject to special tax accounting rules as a result of their use of “applicable financial statements” (within
the meaning of Section 451(b)(3) of the Code); and

non-U.S. stockholders (as defined below, and except as otherwise discussed below).

This summary assumes that holders hold our common stock and preferred stock as capital assets, which generally
means as property held for investment.

THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF HOLDERS OF OUR COMMON STOCK DEPENDS IN
SOME INSTANCES ON DETERMINATIONS OF FACT AND INTERPRETATIONS OF COMPLEX
PROVISIONS OF U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX LAW FOR WHICH NO CLEAR PRECEDENT OR
AUTHORITY MAY BE AVAILABLE. IN ADDITION, THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX TREATMENT OF
HOLDING OUR COMMON STOCK TO ANY PARTICULAR STOCKHOLDER WILL DEPEND ON THE
STOCKHOLDER’S PARTICULAR TAX CIRCUMSTANCES. YOU ARE URGED TO CONSULT YOUR TAX
ADVISOR REGARDING THE U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, AND FOREIGN INCOME AND OTHER TAX
CONSEQUENCES TO YOU, IN LIGHT OF YOUR PARTICULAR INVESTMENT OR TAX CIRCUMSTANCES,
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OF ACQUIRING, HOLDING, AND DISPOSING OF ARMOUR COMMON STOCK.
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U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations of ARMOUR as a REIT - Taxation of ARMOUR - General

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under Sections 856 through 860 of the Code, commencing with our taxable
year ending December 31, 2009. We believe that we have been organized and operate in a manner that allows us to
qualify for taxation as a REIT under the Code.

The law firm of Sidley Austin LLP has acted as our special counsel for tax matters in connection with this registration.
We have received an opinion of Sidley Austin LLP to the effect that, commencing with our taxable year ended
December 31, 2011, we have been organized and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and
taxation as a REIT under the Code, and our actual method of operation has enabled, and our proposed method of
operation will continue to enable us, to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under the Code.
It must be emphasized that the opinion of Sidley Austin LLP is based on various assumptions relating to our
organization and operation, including that all factual representations and statements set forth in all relevant
documents, records and instruments are true and correct and that we will at all times operate in accordance with the
method of operation described in our organizational documents and this document. Additionally, the opinion of Sidley
Austin LLP is conditioned upon factual representations and covenants made by our management and the management
of ACM, regarding our organization, assets, present and future conduct of our business operations and other items
regarding our ability to continue to meet the various requirements for qualification as a REIT, and assumes that such
representations and covenants are accurate and complete and that we will take no action that could adversely affect
our qualification as a REIT. While we believe we are organized and operate so that we will qualify as a REIT, given
the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations and the
possibility of future changes in our circumstances or applicable law, no assurance can be given by Sidley Austin LLP
or us that we will so qualify for any particular year. Sidley Austin LLP will have no obligation to advise us or the
holders of our shares of common stock of any subsequent change in the matters stated, represented or assumed or of
any subsequent change in the applicable law. You should be aware that opinions of counsel are not binding on the
IRS, or any court, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge the conclusions set forth in such
opinions.

Qualification and taxation as a REIT depend on our ability to meet, on a continuing basis, through actual results of
operations, distribution levels, diversity of share ownership and various qualification requirements imposed upon
REITs by the Code, the compliance with which will not be reviewed by Sidley Austin LLP. In addition, our ability to
qualify as a REIT may depend in part upon the operating results, organizational structure and entity classification for
U.S. federal income tax purposes of certain entities in which we invest. Our ability to qualify as a REIT also requires
that we satisfy certain asset and income tests, some of which depend upon the fair market values of assets directly or
indirectly owned by us or which serve as security for loans made by us. Such values may not be susceptible to a
precise determination. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that the actual results of our operations for any taxable
year will satisfy the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.

Taxation of REITs in General

As indicated above, qualification and taxation as a REIT depend on our ability to meet, on a continuing basis, through
actual results of operations, distribution levels, diversity of share ownership and various qualification requirements
imposed upon REITs by the Code. The material qualification requirements are summarized below, under “-
Requirements for Qualification as a REIT.” While we believe that we operate so that we will continue to qualify as a
REIT, no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge our qualification as a REIT or that we will be able to
continue to operate in accordance with the REIT requirements in the future. See ““- Failure to Qualify.”

Provided that we qualify as a REIT, we will generally be entitled to a deduction for dividends that we pay and,
therefore, will not be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on our net taxable income that is currently
distributed to our stockholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the “double taxation” with respect to distributed
income at the corporate and stockholder levels that results generally from investment in a corporation. Rather, income
generated by a REIT and distributed to stockholders generally is taxed only at the stockholder level, upon a
distribution of dividends by the REIT. See - Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders.”

Individuals who are stockholders of corporations that are not REITSs are generally taxed on qualifying corporate
dividends at a reduced maximum rate (the same as long-term capital gains), thereby substantially reducing, though not
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completely eliminating, the double taxation that has historically applied to corporate dividends. With limited
exceptions, however, dividends received by individual U.S. stockholders from us or from other entities that are taxed

as REITs are taxed at rates applicable to ordinary income. However, under the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or TCJA,
dividends received by individual U.S. shareholders from us that are neither attributable to “qualified dividend income”
nor designated as “capital gain dividends” will be eligible for a deduction equal to 20% of the amount of such dividends
in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026. Net operating losses, foreign tax credits and other tax attributes of

a REIT generally do not pass through to
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the stockholders of the REIT, subject to special rules for certain items, such as capital gains, recognized by REITs.
See “- Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders.”

Even if we qualify for taxation as a REIT, however, we will be subject to U.S. federal income taxation as follows:
We will be taxed at regular U.S. federal corporate income tax rates on any undistributed income, including
undistributed net capital gains.

If we have net income from prohibited transactions, which are, in general, sales or other dispositions of property held
primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, other than foreclosure property, such income will be
subject to a 100% tax. See “- Prohibited Transactions” and “- Foreclosure Property” below.

If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or from certain
leasehold terminations as “foreclosure property,” we may thereby avoid (a) the 100% tax on gain from a resale of that
property (if the sale would otherwise constitute a prohibited transaction) and (b) the inclusion of any income from
such property not qualifying for purposes of the REIT gross income tests discussed below, but the income from the
sale or operation of the property may be subject to income tax at the corporate rate.

If we fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, but nonetheless
maintain our qualification as a REIT because other requirements are met, we will be subject to a 100% tax on an
amount equal to (a) the greater of (1) the amount by which we fail the 75% gross income test or (2) the amount by
which we fail the 95% gross income test, as the case maybe, multiplied by (b) a fraction intended to reflect our
profitability.

If we fail to satisfy any of the REIT asset tests, as described below, other than a failure of the 5% or 10% REIT asset
tests that does not exceed a statutory de minimis amount as described more fully below, but our failure is due to
reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect and we nonetheless maintain our REIT qualification because of
specified cure provisions, we will be required to pay a tax equal to the greater of $50,000 or the corporate tax rate of
the net income generated by the non-qualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy the asset tests.
If we fail to satisfy any provision of the Code that would result in our failure to qualify as a REIT (other than a gross
tncome or asset test requirement) and the violation is due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, we may retain
our REIT qualification but we will be required to pay a penalty of $50,000 for each such failure.

If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (a) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such
year, (b) 95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year and (c) any undistributed taxable income from prior
periods (the foregoing sum is referred to as the required distribution), we will be subject to a 4% excise tax on the
excess of the required distribution over the sum of (1) the amounts actually distributed (taking into account excess
distributions from prior years), plus (2) retained amounts on which income tax is paid at the corporate level.

We may be required to pay monetary penalties to the IRS in certain circumstances, including if we fail to meet
record-keeping requirements intended to monitor our compliance with rules relating to the composition of our
stockholders, as described below in “- Requirements for Qualification as a REIT.”

A 100% excise tax may be imposed on some items of income and expense that are directly or constructively paid
between us and any TRS we may own if and to the extent that the IRS successfully adjusts the reported amounts of
these items.

If we acquire appreciated assets from a corporation that is not a REIT in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis
of the assets in our hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the
non-REIT corporation, we will be subject to tax on such appreciation at the corporate income tax rate then applicable
if we subsequently recognize gain on a disposition of any such assets during the 5-year period following their
acquisition from the non-REIT corporation. The results described in this paragraph assume that the non-REIT
corporation will not elect, in lieu of this treatment, to be subject to an immediate tax when the asset is acquired by us.
We will generally be subject to tax on the portion of any excess inclusion income derived from an investment in
residual interests in real estate mortgage investment conduits (or REMICs) to the extent our stock is held by specified
tax-exempt organizations not subject to tax on unrelated business taxable income. Similar rules will apply if we own
an equity interest in a taxable mortgage pool. To the extent that we own a REMIC residual interest or a taxable
mortgage pool through a TRS, we will not be subject to this tax.
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We may elect to retain and pay income tax on our net long-term capital gain. In that case, a stockholder would include
its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain (to the extent we make a timely
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designation of such gain to the stockholder) in its income, would be deemed to have paid the tax that we paid on such
gain, and would be allowed a credit for its proportionate share of the tax deemed to have been paid, and an adjustment
would be made to increase the stockholder’s basis in our common stock. Stockholders that are U.S. corporations will
also appropriately adjust their earnings and profits for the retained capital gains in accordance with Treasury
Regulations to be promulgated.

We may have subsidiaries or own interests in other lower-tier entities that are subchapter C corporations, the earnings
of which would be subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax.

In addition, we may be subject to a variety of taxes other than U.S. federal income tax, including payroll taxes and
state, local, and foreign income, franchise property and other taxes. We could also be subject to tax in situations and
on transactions not presently contemplated.

Requirements for Qualification as a REIT

The Code defines a REIT as a corporation, trust or association:

that is managed by one or more trustees or directors;

the beneficial ownership of which is evidenced by transferable shares or by transferable certificates of beneficial
interest;

that would be taxable as a domestic corporation but for the special Code provisions applicable to REITs;

that is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to specific provisions of the Code;

the beneficial ownership of which is held by 100 or more persons during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12
months, or during a proportionate part of a taxable year of less than 12 months;

.in which, during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% in value of the outstanding stock is owned,
directly or indirectly, by five or fewer “individuals” (as defined in the Code to include specified entities);

which meets other tests described below, including with respect to the nature of its income and assets and the amount
of its distributions; and

that makes an election to be a REIT for the current taxable year or has made such an election for a previous taxable
year that has not been terminated or revoked.

The Code provides that the first though fourth conditions must be met during the entire taxable year, and that the fifth
condition must be met during at least 335 days of a taxable year of 12 months, or during a proportionate part of a
shorter taxable year. The fifth and sixth conditions do not need to be satisfied for the first taxable year for which an
election to become a REIT has been made. Our charter provides restrictions regarding the ownership and transfer of
our shares, which are intended, among other purposes to assist in satisfying the share ownership requirements
described in the fifth and sixth conditions above. For purposes of the sixth condition, an “individual” generally includes
a supplemental unemployment compensation benefit plan, a private foundation or a portion of a trust permanently set
aside or used exclusively for charitable purposes, but does not include a qualified pension plan or profit sharing trust.
To monitor compliance with the share ownership requirements, we are generally required to maintain records
regarding the actual ownership of our shares. To do so, we must demand written statements each year from the record
stockholders of significant percentages of our shares of stock, in which the record stockholders are to disclose the
actual owners of the shares (i.e., the persons required to include in gross income the dividends paid by us). A list of
those persons failing or refusing to comply with this demand must be maintained as part of our records. Failure by us
to comply with these record-keeping requirements could subject us to monetary penalties. If we satisfy these
requirements and after exercising reasonable diligence would not have known that the sixth condition is not satisfied,
we will be deemed to have satisfied such condition. A stockholder that fails or refuses to comply with the demand is
required by Treasury Regulations to submit a statement with its tax return disclosing the actual ownership of the
shares and other information.

In addition, a corporation generally may not elect to become a REIT unless its taxable year is the calendar year. We
satisfy this requirement.
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Effect of Subsidiary Entities

Ownership of Partnership Interests

In the case of a REIT that is a partner in a partnership, Treasury Regulations provide that the REIT is deemed to own
its proportionate share of the partnership’s assets and to earn its proportionate share of the partnership’s gross income
based on its pro rata share of capital interests in the partnership for purposes of the asset and gross income tests
applicable to REITs, as described below. However, solely for purposes of the 10% value test, described below, the
determination of a REIT’s interest in partnership assets will be based on the REIT’s proportionate interest in any
securities issued by the partnership, excluding for these purposes, certain excluded securities as described in the Code.
In addition, the assets and gross income of the partnership generally are deemed to retain the same character in the
hands of the REIT. Thus, our proportionate share of the assets and items of income of partnerships in which we own
an equity interest is treated as an asset and as an item of income for us for purposes of applying the REIT
requirements described below. Consequently, to the extent that we directly or indirectly hold a preferred or other
equity interest in a partnership, the partnership’s assets and operations may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT, even
though we may have no control or only limited influence over the partnership.

Disregarded Subsidiaries

If a REIT owns a corporate subsidiary that is a “qualified REIT subsidiary,” that subsidiary is disregarded for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, and all assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit of the subsidiary are
treated as assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit of the REIT itself, including for purposes of the
gross income and asset tests applicable to REITSs, as summarized below. A qualified REIT subsidiary is any
corporation, other than a TRS, that is wholly-owned by a REIT, by other disregarded subsidiaries or by a combination
of the two. Single member limited liability companies that are wholly-owned by a REIT are also generally disregarded
as separate entities for U.S. federal income tax purposes, including for purposes of the REIT gross income and asset
tests. Disregarded subsidiaries, along with partnerships in which we hold an equity interest, are sometimes referred to
herein as “pass-through subsidiaries.”

In the event that a disregarded subsidiary ceases to be wholly-owned by us (for example, if any equity interest in the
subsidiary is acquired by a person other than us or another disregarded subsidiary of ours), the subsidiary’s separate
existence would no longer be disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Instead, it would have multiple
owners and would be treated as either a partnership or a taxable corporation. Such an event could, depending on the
circumstances, adversely affect our ability to satisfy the various asset and gross income tests applicable to REITs,
including the requirement that REITs generally may not own, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the value or
voting power of the outstanding securities of another corporation. See “- Asset Tests” and “- Gross Income Tests.”
Taxable REIT Subsidiaries

A REIT, in general, may jointly elect with a subsidiary corporation, whether or not wholly-owned, to treat the
subsidiary corporation as a TRS. The separate existence of a TRS or other taxable corporation, unlike a disregarded
subsidiary as discussed above, is not ignored for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, such an entity would
generally be subject to corporate income tax on its earnings, which may reduce the cash flow generated by us and our
subsidiaries in the aggregate and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

A REIT is not treated as holding the assets of a TRS or other taxable subsidiary corporation or as receiving any
income that the subsidiary earns. Rather, the stock issued by the subsidiary is an asset in the hands of the REIT, and
the REIT generally recognizes as income the dividends, if any, that it receives from the subsidiary. This treatment can
affect the gross income and asset test calculations that apply to the REIT, as described below. Because a parent REIT
does not include the assets and income of such subsidiary corporations in determining the parent’s compliance with the
REIT requirements, such entities may be used by the parent REIT to undertake indirectly activities that the REIT rules
might otherwise preclude it from doing directly or through pass-through subsidiaries or render commercially
unfeasible (for example, activities that give rise to certain categories of income such as non-qualifying hedging
income or inventory sales). If dividends are paid to us by one or more TRSs we may own, then a portion of the
dividends that we distribute to stockholders who are taxed at individual rates generally will be eligible for taxation at
preferential qualified dividend income tax rates rather than at ordinary income rates. See - Taxation of Taxable U.S.
Stockholders” and “- Annual Distribution Requirements.”
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Certain restrictions imposed on TRSs are intended to ensure that such entities will be subject to appropriate levels of
U.S. federal income taxation. For example, if amounts are paid to a REIT or deducted by a TRS due to transactions
between a REIT, its tenants and/or the TRS, that exceed the amount that would be paid to or deducted by a party in an
arm’s-length transaction, the REIT generally will be subject to an excise tax equal to 100% of such excess.
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Gross Income Tests

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must annually satisfy two gross income tests. First, at least 75%
of our gross income for each taxable year, excluding gross income from sales of inventory or dealer property in
“prohibited transactions” and certain derivative instrument and foreign currency transactions, must be derived from
investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property, including “rents from real property,” dividends
received from and gains from the disposition of shares of other REITs, interest income derived from mortgage loans
secured by real property (including certain types of mortgage-backed securities), and gains from the sale of real estate
assets (other than a non-qualified publicly offered REIT debt instrument) as well as income from certain kinds of
temporary investments. Second, at least 95% of our gross income in each taxable year, excluding gross income from
prohibited transactions and certain derivative instrument and foreign currency transactions, must be derived from
some combination of income that qualifies under the 75% income test described above, as well as other dividends,
interest, and gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, which need not have any relation to real property.
For purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests, a REIT is deemed to have earned a proportionate share of the
income earned by any partnership, or any limited liability company treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income
tax purposes, in which it owns an interest, which share is determined by reference to its capital interest in such entity,
and is deemed to have earned the income earned by any qualified REIT subsidiary.

Interest Income

Interest income constitutes qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the 75% gross income test to the extent that
the obligation is secured by a mortgage on real property. If we receive interest income with respect to a mortgage loan
that is secured by both real property and other property and the highest principal amount of the loan outstanding
during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property on the date that we acquired the mortgage loan,
the interest income will be apportioned between the real property and the other property, and our income from the
arrangement will qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test only to the extent that the interest is allocable to
the real property. Even if a loan is not secured by real property or is undersecured, the income that it generates may
nonetheless qualify for purposes of the 95% gross income test. If we acquire or originate a construction loan, for
purposes of the foregoing apportionment, the fair market value of the real property includes the fair market value of
the land plus the reasonably estimated cost of improvement or developments (other than personal property) which
secure the construction loan.

To the extent that the terms of a loan provide for contingent interest that is based on the cash proceeds realized upon
the sale of the property securing the loan (or a shared appreciation provision), income attributable to the participation
feature will be treated as gain from sale of the underlying property, which generally will be qualifying income for
purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests, provided that the property is not inventory or dealer property in
the hands of the borrower or us.

To the extent that we derive interest income from a loan where all or a portion of the amount of interest payable is
contingent, such income generally will qualify for purposes of the gross income tests only if it is based upon the gross
receipts or sales and not the net income or profits of any person. This limitation does not apply, however, to a
mortgage loan where the borrower derives substantially all of its income from the property from the leasing of
substantially all of its interest in the property to tenants, to the extent that the rental income derived by the borrower
would qualify as rents from real property had it been earned directly by us.

We may invest in MBS whose principal and interest payments are guaranteed by a U.S. Government agency, such as
Ginnie Mae, or a GSE that are pass-through certificates. We expect that these agency pass-through certificates will be
treated as interests in grantor trusts for federal income tax purposes. We will be treated as owning an undivided
beneficial ownership interest in the mortgage loans held by the grantor trust. The interest on such mortgage loans will
be qualifying income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests to the extent that the obligation is secured
by real property, as discussed above. We also may invest in collateralized mortgage obligations, or CMOs
representing interests in agency pass-through certificates, MBS that are not issued or guaranteed by a U.S.
Government agency or a GSE, and CMBS. We expect that our investments in CMOs, non-agency MBS and CMBS
will be treated as interests in REMICs for federal income tax purposes. In the case of CMOs, MBS and CMBS treated
as interests in a REMIC, such interests will generally qualify as real estate assets and income derived from REMIC
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interests will generally be treated as qualifying income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests described
above.
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If, however, less than 95% of the assets of a REMIC consists of real estate assets (determined as if we held such
assets), we will be treated as receiving directly our proportionate share of the income of the REMIC for purposes of
determining the amount which is treated as interest on an obligation secured by a mortgage on real property. In
addition, some REMIC securitizations include embedded interest rate swap or cap contracts or other derivative
instruments that potentially could produce non-qualifying income to us. We expect that substantially all of our income
from agency mortgage investments, MBS, CMBS, and other mortgage loans will be qualifying income for purposes of
the REIT gross income tests.

We believe that the interest, original issue discount, or OID, and market discount income that we receive from our
mortgage-related securities generally will be qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income
tests. However, to the extent that we own non-REMIC CMOs or other debt instruments secured by mortgage loans
(rather than by real property) or secured by non-real estate assets, or debt securities that are not secured by mortgages
on real property or interests in real property, the interest income received with respect to such securities generally will
be qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not the 75% gross income test. In addition, the
loan amount of a mortgage loan that we own may exceed the value of the real property securing the loan. In that case,
income from the loan will be qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but the interest attributable
to the amount of the loan that exceeds the value of the real property securing the loan will not be qualifying income
for purposes of the 75% gross income test.

We may use “to-be-announced” forward contracts, or TBAs, as a means of investing and financing Agency Securities.
There is no direct authority with respect to the qualifications of income or gains from dispositions of TBAs as gains
from the sale of real property (including interests in real property and interests in mortgages on real property) or other
qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test. We will not treat these items as qualifying for purposes
of the 75% gross income test unless we receive advice of counsel that such income and gains should be treated as
qualifying for purposes of the 75% gross income test. As a result, our ability to enter into TBAs could be limited.
Moreover, even if we were to receive advice of counsel as described in the preceding sentence, it is possible that the
IRS could assert that such income is not qualifying income under the 75% gross income test. In the event that such
income was determined not to be qualifying income for the 75% gross income test, we could be subject to a penalty
tax or could fail to qualify as a REIT if such income, when added to any other non-qualifying income, exceeded 25%
of our gross income.

We may hold certain participation interests, including B-notes in mortgage loans. Such interests in an underlying loan
are created by virtue of a participation or similar agreement to which the originator of the loan is a party, along with
one or more participants. The borrower on the underlying loan is typically not a party to the participation agreement.
The performance of this investment depends upon the performance of the underlying loan, and if the underlying
borrower defaults, the participant typically has no recourse against the originator of the loan. The originator often
retains a senior position in the underlying loan, and grants junior participations which absorb losses first in the event
of a default by the borrower. We believe that our participation interests will qualify as real estate assets for purposes
of the REIT asset tests described below, and that the interest that we will derive from such investments will be treated
as qualifying mortgage interest for purposes of the 75% and 95% income tests. The appropriate treatment of
participation interests for federal income tax purposes is not entirely certain, however, and no assurance can be given
that the IRS will not challenge our treatment of our participation interests. In the event of a determination that such
participation interests do not qualify as real estate assets, or that the income that we will derive from such participation
interests does not qualify as mortgage interest for purposes of the REIT asset and income tests, we could be subject to
a penalty tax, or could fail to qualify as a REIT.

We may invest in construction loans, the interest from which will be qualifying income for purposes of the REIT
income tests, provided that the loan value of the real property securing the construction loan is equal to or greater than
the highest outstanding principal amount of the construction loan during any taxable year, and other requirements are
met. For purposes of construction loans, the loan value of the real property is the fair market value of the land plus the
reasonably estimated cost of the improvements or developments (other than personal property) which will secure the
loan and which are to be constructed from the proceeds of the loan. There can be no assurance that the IRS would not
successfully challenge our estimate of the loan value of the real property and our treatment of the construction loans
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for purposes of the REIT income and assets tests, which may cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT.

Fees will generally be qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests if they are
received in consideration for entering into an agreement to make a loan secured by real property and the fees are not
determined by income and profits. Other fees generally will not be qualifying income for purposes of either gross
income test and will not be favorably counted for purposes of either gross income test. Any fees earned by a TRS will
not be included for purposes of the gross income tests.
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The IRS could assert that certain forms of income that we earn are not qualifying income under the 75% gross income
test. In the event that such income was determined not to be qualifying income for the 75% gross income test, we
could be subject to a penalty tax or could fail to qualify as a REIT if such income, when added to any other
non-qualifying income, exceeded 25% of our gross income.

Dividend Income

We may receive distributions from TRSs or other corporations that are not REITs or qualified REIT subsidiaries.
These distributions are generally classified as dividend income to the extent of the earnings and profits of the
distributing corporation. Such distributions generally constitute qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross
income test, but not the 75% gross income test. Any dividends received by us from a REIT will be qualifying income
in our hands for purposes of both the 95% and 75% gross income tests.

Derivative and Hedging Transactions

We may enter into derivative or hedging transactions with respect to one or more of our assets or liabilities. Such
transactions could take a variety of forms, including interest rate swap agreements, interest rate cap agreements,
options, futures contracts, forward rate agreements or similar financial instruments. Except to the extent provided by
Treasury Regulations, any income from a hedging transaction will not constitute gross income for purposes of the
75% or 95% gross income test if we properly identify the transaction as specified in applicable Treasury Regulations
and we enter into such transaction (i) in the normal course of our business primarily to manage risk of interest rate or
price changes or currency fluctuations with respect to borrowings made or to be made, or ordinary obligations
incurred or to be incurred, to acquire or carry real estate assets, or (ii) primarily to manage risk of currency
fluctuations with respect to any item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the 75% or 95%
income tests. In addition, income from certain new hedging transactions that counteract prior qualifying hedging
transactions described in (i) and (ii) above may not constitute gross income for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross
income tests if we properly identify the new hedging transaction as specified in applicable Treasury Regulations. To
the extent that we enter into other types of derivative or hedging transactions, the income from those transactions is
likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of both of the 75% and 95% gross income tests.

Failure to Satisfy the Gross Income Tests

We intend to monitor our sources of income, including any non-qualifying income received by us, so as to ensure our
compliance with the gross income tests. If we fail to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any
taxable year, we may still qualify as a REIT for the year if we are entitled to relief under applicable provisions of the
Code. These relief provisions will generally be available if our failure to meet these tests was due to reasonable cause
and not due to willful neglect and, following the identification of such failure, we set forth a description of each item
of our gross income that satisfies the gross income tests in a schedule for the taxable year filed in accordance with the
Treasury Regulations. It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions
in all circumstances. If these relief provisions are inapplicable to a particular set of circumstances involving us, we
will not qualify as a REIT. As discussed above under “- Taxation of REITs in General,” even where these relief
provisions apply, a tax would be imposed upon the profit attributable to the amount by which we fail to satisfy the
particular gross income test.

Asset Tests

We, at the close of each calendar quarter, must also satisfy four tests relating to the nature of our assets:

First, at least 75% of the value of our total assets must be represented by some combination of “real estate assets,” cash,
cash items, U.S. Government securities and, under some circumstances, stock or debt instruments purchased with new
capital. For this purpose, real estate assets include interests in real property, such as land, buildings, leasehold interests
in real property, stock of other corporations that qualify as REITs, debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITs
and certain kinds of mortgage-backed securities and mortgage loans. A regular or residual interest in a REMIC is
generally treated as a real estate asset. If, however, less than 95% of the assets of a REMIC consists of real estate
assets (determined as if we held such assets), we will be treated as owning our proportionate share of the assets of the
REMIC. Assets that do not qualify for purposes of the 75% test are subject to the additional asset tests described
below.
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Second, the value of any one issuer’s securities owned by us may not exceed 5% of the value of our assets.

Third, we may not own more than 10% of any one issuer’s outstanding securities, as measured by either voting power
or value.

Fourth, the aggregate value of all securities of TRSs held by us may not exceed 20% of the value of our total assets.
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Fifth, debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITS, if they would not otherwise qualify as “real estate assets”,
cannot exceed 25% of the value of our total assets.

The 5% and 10% asset tests do not apply to securities of TRSs and qualified REIT subsidiaries. The 10% value test
does not apply to certain “straight debt” and other excluded securities, as described in the Code, including but not
limited to any loan to an individual or an estate, any obligation to pay rents from real property and any security issued
by a REIT. In addition, (i) a REIT’s interest as a partner in a partnership is not considered a security for purposes of
applying the 10% value test; (ii) any debt instrument issued by a partnership (other than straight debt or other
excluded security) will not be considered a security issued by the partnership if at least 75% of the partnership’s gross
income is derived from sources that would qualify for the 75% REIT gross income test; and (iii) any debt instrument
issued by a partnership (other than straight debt or other excluded security) will not be considered a security issued by
the partnership to the extent of the REIT’s interest as a partner in the partnership.

For purposes of the 10% value test, “straight debt” means a written unconditional promise to pay on demand on a
specified date a sum certain in money if (i) the debt is not convertible, directly or indirectly, into stock, (ii) the interest
rate and interest payment dates are not contingent on profits, the borrower’s discretion, or similar factors other than
certain contingencies relating to the timing and amount of principal and interest payments, as described in the Code
and (iii) in the case of an issuer which is a corporation or a partnership, securities that otherwise would be considered
straight debt will not be so considered if we, and any of our “controlled taxable REIT subsidiaries” as defined in the
Code, hold any securities of the corporate or partnership issuer which (a) are not straight debt or other excluded
securities (prior to the application of this rule), and (b) have an aggregate value greater than 1% of the issuer’s
outstanding securities (including, for the purposes of a partnership issuer, its interest as a partner in the partnership).
After initially meeting the asset tests at the close of any quarter, we will not lose our qualification as a REIT for failure
to satisfy the asset tests at the end of a later quarter solely by reason of changes in asset values (including a failure
caused solely by change in the foreign currency exchange rate used to value a foreign asset). If we fail to satisfy the
asset tests because we acquire or increase our ownership interest in securities during a quarter, we can cure this failure
by disposing of sufficient non-qualifying assets within 30 days after the close of that quarter. If we fail the 5% asset
test, or the 10% vote or value asset tests at the end of any quarter and such failure is not cured within 30 days
thereafter, we may dispose of sufficient assets (generally within six months after the last day of the quarter in which
our identification of the failure to satisfy these asset tests occurred) to cure such a violation that does not exceed the
lesser of 1% of our assets at the end of the relevant quarter or $10,000,000. If we fail any of the other asset tests or our
failure of the 5% and 10% asset tests is in excess of the de minimis amount described above, as long as such failure
was due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, we may be permitted to avoid disqualification as a REIT, after the
30 day cure period, by taking steps including the disposition of sufficient assets to meet the asset test (generally within
six months after the last day of the quarter in which our identification of the failure to satisfy the REIT asset test
occurred) and paying a tax equal to the greater of $50,000 or the corporate income tax rate of the net income generated
by the non-qualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy the asset test.

We may invest in MBS whose principal and interest payments are guaranteed by a U.S. Government agency, such as
Ginnie Mae, or a GSE, that are pass-through certificates. We expect that these agency pass-through certificates will be
treated as interests in grantor trusts for federal income tax purposes. We will be treated as owning an undivided
beneficial ownership interest in the mortgage loans held by the grantor trust, and therefore, we will treat the MBS as
real estate assets for purposes of the 75% asset test.

We also may invest in CMOs, representing interests in agency pass-through certificates, MBS that are not issued or
guaranteed by a U.S. Government agency or a GSE, and CMBS. We expect that our investments in CMOs,
non-agency MBS and CMBS will be treated as interests in REMICs for federal income tax purposes. Such interests
will generally qualify as real estate assets for purposes of the 75% asset test. If less than 95% of the assets of a
REMIC are real estate assets, however, then only a proportionate part of our interest in the REMIC qualifies for
purposes of the 75% asset test. We expect that substantially all of our MBS, CMBS and other mortgage loans will be
real estat assets for purposes of the 75% asset test.

However, to the extent that we own non-REMIC CMOs or other debt instruments secured by mortgage loans (rather
than by real property) or secured by non-real estate assets or debt securities that are not secured by mortgages on real
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property, those securities may not be qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test.

In addition, in certain cases (unless a safe harbor applies pursuant to IRS guidance), the modification of a debt
instrument or, potentially, an increase in the value of a debt instrument that we acquired at a significant discount,
could result in the conversion of the instrument from a qualifying real estate asset to a wholly or partially
non-qualifying asset that must be contributed to a TRS or disposed of in order for us to satisfy the asset tests described
above.
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In addition, we utilize TBAs as a means of investing and financing Agency Securities. There is no direct authority
with respect to the qualification of TBAs as real estate assets or U.S. Government securities for purposes of the 75%
asset test. We will not treat TBAs as such unless we receive advice of our counsel that TBAs should be treated as
qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test. As a result, our ability to purchase TBAs could be limited.
Moreover, even if we were to receive advice of counsel as described in the preceding sentence, it is possible that the
IRS could assert that TBAs are not qualifying assets in which case we could be subject to a penalty tax or fail to
qualify as a REIT if such assets, when combined with other non-real estate assets, exceed 25% of our gross assets. We
may hold certain participation interests, including B-notes in mortgage loans. Such interests in an underlying loan are
created by virtue of a participation or similar agreement to which the originator of the loan is a party, along with one
or more participants. We believe that our participation interests will qualify as real estate assets for purposes of the
75% asset test. The appropriate treatment of participation interests for federal income tax purposes is not entirely
certain, however, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge our treatment of our participation
interest. In the event of a determination that such participation interests do not qualify as real estate assets, we could
be subject to a penalty tax, or could fail to qualify as a REIT.

In addition, in order to finance some of our assets that we hold or acquire, we may enter into repurchase agreements,
including with persons who sell us those assets. Under a repurchase agreement, we will nominally sell certain of our
assets to a counterparty and simultaneously enter into an agreement to repurchase those sold assets. Although the tax
treatment of repurchase transactions is unclear, we take the position that, for U.S. federal income tax purposes we are
the owner of those assets that are the subject of any such repurchase agreement notwithstanding that we may transfer
record ownership of those assets to the counterparty during the term of any such agreement. Because we enter into
repurchase agreements the tax treatment of which is unclear, the IRS could assert, particularly in respect of our
repurchase agreements with persons who sell us the assets that we wish to finance by way of repurchase agreements,
that we did not own those assets during the term of the repurchase agreements, in which case we could fail to qualify
as a REIT.

We have invested, and we expect to continue to do so, possibly at an increased level, in interest-bearing “credit risk
transfer notes”, or CRT Notes, issued (or to be issued) by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Under the terms of those CRT
Notes, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac transfer a portion of the default risk associated with particular identified
residential mortgage loan pools as to which those agencies have guaranteed full and timely payment of principal and
interest to holders of mortgage-backed securities backed by those mortgage loans. The principal amount of the CRT
Notes is reduced by reference to default losses on the mortgage loans pools to which they relate. The prospectuses and
placement memoranda with respect to the CRT Notes state that the CRT Notes will be treated as debt instruments for
U.S. federal income purposes and that counsel to Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, as applicable, has delivered an opinion
to that effect. In addition, those prospectuses and placement memoranda also state that the CRT Notes are “government
securities” within the meaning of Section 856(c)(4) because they are issued by governmental instrumentalities (i.e.,
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac). As a result, we treat CRT Notes as qualifying assets for purposes of the 75% asset test.
We treat the income from the CRT Notes as qualifying income for purposes of the 95% gross income test, but not for
purposes of the 75% income test. Although Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are instrumentalities of the U.S.
government, their views on the tax classification of the CRT Notes are not binding on the IRS. Thus, it is possible that
the IRS could assert that the CRT Notes are not government securities for REIT purposes. If that were to occur, we
might not be able to satisfy the 5% REIT asset test. Nevertheless, given the disclosure issued by the agencies and the
other information and analysis relevant to our treatment of the CRT Notes as government securities, we believe that
we have reasonable cause for any failure of the 5% asset test and would be able to retain our REIT status by paying
any applicable penalty taxes and causing our assets to come back into compliance with the REIT asset tests, including
by acquiring additional qualifying REIT assets, selling some or all of the CRT Notes, or restructuring our ownership
of the CRT Notes using TRS structures.

We believe that our holdings of securities and other assets will be structured in a manner that will comply with the
foregoing REIT asset requirements and intend to monitor compliance on an ongoing basis. There can be no assurance,

however, that we will be successful in this effort. Moreover, values of some assets may not be susceptible to a precise
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determination and are subject to change in the future. Furthermore, the proper classification of an instrument as debt
or equity for U.S. federal income tax purposes may be uncertain in some circumstances, which could affect the
application of the REIT asset tests. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not contend that our
interests in subsidiaries or in the securities of other issuers (including REIT issuers) cause a violation of the REIT
asset tests.

Annual Distribution Requirements

In order to qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends, to our
stockholders in an amount at least equal to:

the sum of:
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90% of our “REIT taxable income” (computed without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and our net capital
gains); and

90% of the net income (after tax), if any, from foreclosure property (as described below); minus

the sum of specified items of non-cash income that exceeds a percentage of our income.

These distributions must be paid in the taxable year to which they relate or in the following taxable year if such
distributions are declared in October, November or December of the taxable year, are payable to stockholders of
record on a specified date in any such month and are actually paid before the end of January of the following year.
Such distributions are treated as both paid by us and received by each stockholder on December 31 of the year in
which they are declared. In addition, at our election, a distribution for a taxable year may be declared before we timely
file our tax return for the year and be paid with or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration,
provided that such payment is made during the 12-month period following the close of such taxable year. These
distributions are taxable to our stockholders in the year in which paid, even though the distributions relate to our prior
taxable year for purposes of the 90% distribution requirement.

Except for distributions by “publicly offered REITs”, distributions must not be “preferred dividends” in order for such
distributions to be counted toward the distribution requirement. A dividend is not a preferential dividend if it is pro
rata among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class and is in accordance with the preferences among
different classes of stock as set forth in the organizational documents. We believe that we are and will continue to be a
publicly offered REIT and, therefore, will not be subject to this limitation.

To the extent that we distribute at least 90%, but less than 100%, of our “REIT taxable income,” as adjusted, we will be
subject to tax at ordinary corporate tax rates on the retained portion. In addition, we may elect to retain, rather than
distribute, our net long-term capital gains and pay tax on such gains. In this case, we could elect to have our
stockholders include their proportionate share of such undistributed long-term capital gains in income and receive a
corresponding credit for their proportionate share of the tax paid by us. Our stockholders would then increase the
adjusted basis of their stock in us by the difference between the designated amounts included in their long-term capital
gains and the tax deemed paid with respect to their proportionate shares.

If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of:

85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year,

95% of our REIT capital gain net income for such year, and

any undistributed taxable income from prior periods.

We will be subject to a 4% excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the sum of (i) the amounts
actually distributed (taking into account excess distributions from prior periods) and (ii) the amounts of income
retained on which we have paid corporate income tax. We intend to make timely distributions so that we are not
subject to the 4% excise tax.

It is possible that we, from time to time, may not have sufficient cash to meet the distribution requirements due to
timing differences between (i) the actual receipt of cash, including receipt of distributions from our subsidiaries and
(ii) the inclusion of items in income by us for U.S. federal income tax purposes. For example, we may acquire debt
instruments or notes whose stated redemption price may exceed its issue price as determined for U.S. federal income
tax purposes (such excess, “original issue discount,” or OID), such that we will be required to include in our income a
portion of the OID each year that the instrument is held before we receive any corresponding cash. In the event that
such timing differences occur, in order to meet the distribution requirements, it might be necessary to arrange for
short-term, or possibly long-term, borrowings or to pay dividends in the form of taxable in-kind distributions of
property, including taxable stock dividends. In the case of a taxable stock dividend, stockholders would be required to
include the dividend as income and would be required to satisfy the tax liability associated with the distribution with
cash from other sources including sales of our common stock. Both a taxable stock distribution and sale of common
stock resulting from such distribution could adversely affect the price of our common stock.

We may be able to rectify a failure to meet the distribution requirements for a year by paying “deficiency dividends” to
stockholders in a later year, which may be included in our deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. In this
case, we may be able to avoid losing our qualification as a REIT or being taxed on amounts distributed as deficiency
dividends. However, we will be required to pay interest and a penalty based on the amount of any deduction taken for
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Due to the nature of the assets in which we will invest, we may be required to recognize taxable income from certain
of our assets in advance of our receipt of cash flow on or proceeds from disposition of such assets, and we may be
required to report taxable income in early periods that exceeds the economic income ultimately realized on such
assets.

We may acquire debt instruments in the secondary market for less than their stated redemption price. The discount at
which such debt instruments are acquired may reflect doubts about their ultimate collectability rather than current
market interest rates. The amount of such discount will nevertheless generally be treated as “market discount” for federal
income tax purposes. Accrued market discount is generally recognized as taxable income when and to the extent that
any payment of principal is made on the debt instrument. Payments on residential mortgage loans are ordinarily made
monthly, and consequently accrued market discount may have to be included in income each month as if the debt
instrument were assured of ultimately being collected in full. If we collect less on the debt instrument than our
purchase price plus the market discount we had previously reported as income, we may not be able to benefit from any
offsetting loss deductions.

We may also acquire discounted debt investments that are subsequently modified by agreement with the borrower. If
the amendments to the outstanding debt are “significant modifications” under the applicable Treasury Regulations, the
modified debt will be considered to have been reissued to us in a debt-for-debt exchange with the borrower. In that
event, we may be required to recognize taxable gain to the extent the principal amount of the modified debt exceeds
our adjusted tax basis in the unmodified debt, even if the value of the debt or the payment expectations have not
changed. Following such a taxable modification of a non-publicly traded loan, we would hold the modified loan with
a cost basis equal to its principal amount for federal tax purposes. To the extent that such modifications are made with
respect to a debt instrument held by a TRS that is treated as a dealer or trader and that makes an election to use
mark-to-market accounting, such TRS would be required at the end of each taxable year, including the taxable year in
which any such modification were made, to mark the modified debt instrument to its fair market value as if the debt
instrument were sold. In that case, the TRS could recognize a loss at the end of the taxable year in which the
modifications were made to the extent that the fair market value of such debt instrument at such time was less than the
instrument’s tax basis.

In addition, in the event that any debt instruments or MBS acquired by us are delinquent as to mandatory principal and
interest payments, or in the event payments with respect to a particular debt instrument are not made when due, we
may nonetheless be required to continue to recognize the unpaid interest as taxable income. Similarly, we may be
required to accrue interest income with respect to subordinated MBS at the stated rate regardless of whether
corresponding cash payments are received.

Due to each of these potential differences between income recognition or expense deduction and related cash receipts
or disbursements, there is a significant risk that we may have substantial taxable income in excess of cash available
for distribution. In that event, we may need to borrow funds or take other actions to satisfy the REIT distribution
requirements for the taxable year in which this “phantom income” is recognized. See “Annual Distribution Requirements.”
Recordkeeping Requirements

We are required to maintain records and request on an annual basis information from specified stockholders. These
requirements are designed to assist us in determining the actual ownership of our outstanding stock and maintaining
our qualifications as a REIT.

Prohibited Transactions

Net income we derive from a prohibited transaction is subject to a 100% tax. The term “prohibited transaction”
generally includes a sale or other disposition of property (other than foreclosure property) that is held as inventory or
primarily for sale to customers, in the ordinary course of a trade or business by a REIT, by a lower-tier pass-through
sibsidiary in which the REIT holds an equity interest or by a borrower that has issued a shared appreciation mortgage
or similar debt instrument to the REIT. We intend to conduct our operations so that no asset owned by us or our
pass-through subsidiaries will be held as inventory or primarily for sale to customers, and that a sale of any assets
owned by us directly or through a pass-through subsidiary will not be in the ordinary course of business. However,
whether property is held as inventory or “primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business”
depends on the particular facts and circumstances. No assurance can be given that any particular asset in which we
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hold a direct or indirect interest will not be treated as property held as inventory or primarily for sale to customers or
that certain safe harbor provisions of the Code that prevent such treatment will apply. The 100% tax will not apply to
gains from the sale of property that is held through a TRS or other taxable corporation, although such income will be
subject to tax in the hands of the corporation at regular corporate income tax rates.
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Foreclosure Property

Foreclosure property is real property and any personal property incident to such real property:

that is acquired by a REIT as a result of the REIT having bid on the property at foreclosure or having otherwise
reduced the property to ownership or possession by agreement or process of law after there was a default (or default
was imminent) on a lease of the property or a mortgage loan held by the REIT and secured by the property,

for which the related loan or lease was acquired by the REIT at a time when default was not imminent or anticipated,
and

for which such REIT makes a proper election to treat the property as foreclosure property.

REITs generally are subject to tax at the corporate rate on any net income from foreclosure property, including any
gain from the disposition of the foreclosure property, other than income that would otherwise be qualifying income for
purposes of the 75% gross income test. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property election
has been made will not be subject to the 100% tax on gains from prohibited transactions described above, even if the
property would otherwise constitute inventory or dealer property in the hands of the selling REIT. We do not
anticipate that we will receive any income from foreclosure property that is not qualifying income for purposes of the
75% gross income test, but, if we do receive any such income, we intend to elect to treat the related property as
foreclosure property.

Taxable Mortgage Pools and Excess Inclusion Income

An entity, or a portion of an entity, may be classified as a taxable mortgage pool (“TMP”) under the Code if:
substantially all of its assets consist of debt obligations or interests in debt obligations,

more than 50% of those debt obligations are real estate mortgages or interests in real estate mortgages as of specified
testing dates,

the entity has issued debt obligations (liabilities) that have two or more maturities, and

the payments required to be made by the entity on its debt obligations (liabilities) “bear a relationship™ to the payments
to be received by the entity on the debt obligations that it holds as assets.

Under regulations issued by the U.S. Treasury Department, if less than 80% of the assets of an entity (or a portion of
an entity) consist of debt obligations, these debt obligations are considered not to constitute “substantially all” of its
assets, and therefore the entity would not be treated as a TMP. Our financing and securitization arrangements may
give rise to TMPs, with the consequences as described below.

Where an entity, or a portion of an entity, is classified as a TMP, it is generally treated as a taxable corporation for
federal income tax purposes. In the case of a REIT, a portion of a REIT, or a disregarded subsidiary of a REIT that is a
TMP, however, special rules apply. The TMP is not treated as a corporation that is subject to corporate income tax,
and the TMP classification does not directly affect the tax status of the REIT. Rather, the consequences of the TMP
classification would, in general, except as described below, be limited to the stockholders of the REIT.

A portion of the REIT’s income from the TMP arrangement, which might be non-cash accrued income, could be
treated as “excess inclusion income.” Under IRS guidance, the REIT’s excess inclusion income, including any excess
inclusion income from a residual interest in a REMIC, must be allocated among its stockholders in proportion to
distributions paid. The REIT is required to notify stockholders of the amount of “excess inclusion income” allocated to
them. A stockholder’s share of excess inclusion income:

cannot be offset by any net operating losses otherwise available to the stockholder,

.is subject to tax as unrelated business taxable income, or UBTI, in the hands of most types of stockholders that are
otherwise generally exempt from federal income tax, and

results in the application of federal income tax withholding at the maximum rate (30%), without reduction for any
otherwise applicable income tax treaty or other exemption, to the extent allocable to most types of foreign
stockholders.

Under IRS guidance, to the extent that excess inclusion income is allocated to a tax-exempt, record-name stockholder
of a REIT that is not subject to unrelated business income tax (such as a government entity or charitable remainder
trust), the REIT may be subject to tax on this income at the corporate tax rate. In that case, the REIT could reduce
distributions to such stockholders by the amount of such tax paid by the REIT attributable to such stockholder’s
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ownership. Treasury Regulations provide that such a reduction in distributions does not give rise to a preferential
dividend that could
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adversely affect the REIT’s compliance with its distribution requirements. The manner in which excess inclusion
income is calculated, or would be allocated to stockholders, including allocations among shares of different classes of
stock, is not clear under current law. As required by IRS guidance, we intend to make such determinations using a
reasonable method. Tax-exempt investors, foreign investors and taxpayers with net operating losses should carefully
consider the tax consequences described above, and are urged to consult their tax advisors.

To the extent that common stock owned by “disqualified organizations” is held by a broker or other nominee, the
broker/dealer or other nominees would be liable for a tax at the corporate tax rate on the portion of our excess
inclusion income allocable to the common stock held by the broker/dealer or other nominee on behalf of the
“disqualified organizations.” A RIC or other pass-through entity owning our common stock will be subject to tax at the
corporate tax rate on any excess inclusion income allocated to its record name owners that are “disqualified
organizations.”

If a subsidiary partnership of ours that we do not wholly-own, directly or through one or more disregarded entities,
were a TMP, the foregoing rules would not apply. Rather, the partnership that is a TMP would be treated as a
corporation for federal income tax purposes, and potentially would be subject to corporate income tax or withholding
tax. In addition, this characterization would alter our income and asset test calculations, and could adversely affect our
compliance with those requirements. We intend to monitor the structure of any TMPs in which we have an interest to
ensure that they will not adversely affect our status as a REIT.

Failure to Qualify

In the event that we violate a provision of the Code that would result in our failure to qualify as a REIT, we may
nevertheless continue to qualify as a REIT. Specified relief provisions will be available to us to avoid such
disqualification if:

the violation is due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect,

we pay a penalty of $50,000 for each failure to satisfy a requirement for qualification as a REIT, and

the violation does not include a violation under the gross income or asset tests described above (for which other
specified relief provisions are available).

This cure provision reduces the instances that could lead to our disqualification as a REIT for violations due to
reasonable cause. If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year and none of the relief provisions of
the Code apply, we will be subject to tax on our taxable income at the regular corporate rate. Distributions to our
stockholders in any year in which we are not a REIT will not be deductible by us, nor will they be required to be
made. In this situation, to the extent of current and accumulated earnings and profits, and, subject to limitations of the
Code, distributions to our stockholders will generally be taxable in the case of our stockholders who are individual
U.S. stockholders (as defined below), as “qualified dividend income” at a reduced maximum rate, and dividends in the
hands of our corporate U.S. stockholders may be eligible for the dividends received deduction. However, distributions
to individual U.S. shareholders during any year in which we are not a REIT will not be eligible for the deduction equal
to 20% of the amount of such dividends. Unless we are entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we will
also be disqualified from re-electing to be taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which
qualification was lost. It is not possible to state whether, in all circumstances, we will be entitled to statutory relief.
Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

This section summarizes the taxation of U.S. stockholders who hold our stock that are not tax-exempt organizations.
For these purposes, a U.S. stockholder is a beneficial owner of our stock who for U.S. federal income tax purposes is:
& citizen or resident of the U.S.;

a corporation (including an entity treated as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized
in or under the laws of the U.S. or of a political subdivision thereof (including the District of Columbia);

an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

any trust if (i) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or
more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (ii) it has a valid election in
place to be treated as a U.S. person.
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If an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our stock, the U.S.
federal income tax treatment of a partner generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the activities of the
partnership. A partner of a partnership holding our common stock should consult its own tax advisor regarding the
U.S. federal income tax consequences to the partner of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of our stock by the
partnership.

Distributions

Provided that we qualify as a REIT, distributions made to our taxable U.S. stockholders out of our current or
accumulated earnings and profits, and not designated as capital gain dividends, will generally be taken into account by
them as ordinary dividend income and will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction for corporations. In
determining the extent to which a distribution with respect to our common stock constitutes a dividend for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, our earnings and profits will be allocated first to distributions with respect to our
preferred stock, if any, and then to our common stock. Dividends received from REITs are generally not eligible to be
taxed at the preferential qualified dividend income rates applicable to individual U.S. stockholders who receive
dividends from taxable subchapter C corporations.

In addition, distributions from us that are designated as capital gain dividends will be taxed to U.S. stockholders as
long-term capital gains, to the extent that they do not exceed our actual net capital gain for the taxable year, without
regard to the period for which the U.S. stockholder has held our stock. To the extent that we elect under the applicable
provisions of the Code to retain our net capital gains, U S stockholders will be treated as having received, for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, our undistributed capital gains as well as a corresponding credit for taxes paid by us on
such retained capital gains. U.S. stockholders will increase their adjusted tax basis in our common stock by the
difference between their allocable share of such retained capital gain and their share of the tax paid by us. Long-term
capital gains are generally taxable at reduced maximum federal rates in the case of U.S. stockholders who are
individuals, and ordinary income rates for corporations.

Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits will not be taxable to a U.S. stockholder to
the extent that they do not exceed the adjusted tax basis of the U.S. stockholder’s shares in respect of which the
distributions were made, but rather will reduce the adjusted tax basis of those shares. To the extent that such
distributions exceed the adjusted tax basis of an individual U.S. stockholder’s shares, they will be included in income
as long-term capital gain, or short-term capital gain if the shares have been held for one year or less. In addition, any
dividend declared by us in October, November or December of any year and payable to a U.S. stockholder of record
on a specified date in any such month will be treated as both paid by us and received by the U.S. stockholder on
December 31 of such year, provided that the dividend is actually paid by us before the end of January of the following
calendar year.

With respect to U.S. stockholders who are taxed at the rates applicable to individuals, we may elect to designate a
portion of our distributions paid to such U.S. stockholders as “qualified dividend income.” A portion of a distribution
that is properly designated as qualified dividend income is taxable to non-corporate U.S. stockholders at the same
rates as capital gain, provided that the U.S. stockholder has held the common stock with respect to which the
distribution is made for more than 60 days during the 121-day period beginning on the date that is 60 days before the
date on which such common stock became ex-dividend with respect to the relevant distribution. The maximum
amount of our distributions eligible to be designated as qualified dividend income for a taxable year is equal to the
sum of:

the qualified dividend income received by us during such taxable year from non-REIT C corporations (including any
TRS in which we may own an interest);

the excess of any “undistributed” REIT taxable income recognized during the immediately preceding year over the U.S.
federal income tax paid by us with respect to such undistributed REIT taxable income; and

the excess of any income recognized during the immediately preceding year attributable to the sale of a built-in-gain
asset that was acquired in a carry-over basis transaction from a non-REIT C corporation over the U.S. federal income
tax paid by us with respect to such built-in gain.

In addition, the total amount of dividends that we may designate as “qualified dividend income” or “capital gain
dividends” may not exceed our dividends paid for the taxable year. Generally, dividends that we receive will be treated
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as qualified dividend income for purposes of the first bullet above if the dividends are received from a domestic C
corporation (other than a REIT or a RIC), any TRS we may form, or a “qualifying foreign corporation” and specified

holding period requirements and other requirements are met.
Under the TCJA, dividends received by individual U.S. shareholders from us that are neither attributable to
“qualified dividend income” nor designated as “capital gain dividends” will be eligible for a deduction equal to 20% of the
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amount of such dividends in taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026.

To the extent that we have available net operating losses and capital losses carried forward from prior tax years, such
losses may, subject to limitations, reduce the amount of distributions that must be made in order to comply with the
REIT distribution requirements. See ““- Taxation of ARMOUR - General” and “Annual Distribution Requirements.” Such
losses, however, are not passed through to U.S. stockholders and do not offset income of U.S. stockholders from other
sources, nor do they affect the character of any distributions that are actually made by us, which are generally subject
to tax in the hands of U.S. stockholders to the extent that we have current or accumulated earnings and profits.
Dispositions of Our Common Stock

In general, a U.S. stockholder will realize gain or loss upon the sale or other taxable disposition of our common stock
in an amount equal to the difference between the sum of the fair market value of any property and the amount of cash
received in such disposition and the U.S. stockholder’s adjusted tax basis in the common stock at the time of the
disposition. In general, a U.S. stockholder’s adjusted tax basis will equal the U.S. stockholder’s acquisition cost,
increased by the excess of net capital gains deemed distributed to the U.S. stockholder (discussed above) less tax
deemed paid on such gain and reduced by returns of capital. In general, capital gains recognized by individuals and
other non-corporate U.S. stockholders upon the sale or disposition of shares of our common stock will be subject to a
reduced maximum U.S. federal income tax rate if our common stock is held for more than one year, and will be taxed
at ordinary income rates if our common stock is held for one year or less. Gains recognized by U.S. stockholders that
are corporations are subject to U.S. federal income tax at the regular corporate tax rate, whether or not classified as
long-term capital gains. Stockholders are advised to consult with their tax advisors with respect to their capital gain
tax liability. Capital losses recognized by a U.S. stockholder upon the disposition of our common stock held for more
than one year at the time of disposition will be considered long-term capital losses, and are generally available only to
offset capital gain income of the U.S. stockholder but not ordinary income (except in the case of individuals, who may
offset up to $3,000 of ordinary income each year). In addition, any loss upon a sale or exchange of shares of our
common stock by a U.S. stockholder who has held the shares for six months or less, after applying holding period
rules, will be treated as a long-term capital loss to the extent of distributions received from us that were required to be
treated by the U.S. stockholder as long-term capital gain.

Passive Activity Losses and Investment Interest Limitations

Distributions made by us and gain arising from the sale or exchange by a U.S. stockholder of our common stock will
not be treated as passive activity income. As a result, U.S. stockholders will not be able to apply any “passive losses”
against income or gain relating to our common stock. Distributions made by us, to the extent they do not constitute a
return of capital, generally will be treated as investment income for purposes of computing the investment interest
limitation. A U.S. stockholder that elects to treat capital gain dividends, capital gains from the disposition of stock or
qualified dividend income as investment income for purposes of the investment interest limitation will be taxed at
ordinary income rates on such amounts.

Medicare Tax

Certain U.S. stockholders, who are individuals, estates or trusts and whose income exceeds certain thresholds will be
required to pay a 3.8% Medicare tax on dividends and other income, including capital gain from the sale or disposition
of our common stock.

Taxation of Tax-Exempt U.S. Stockholders

U.S. tax-exempt entities, including qualified employee pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement
accounts, generally are exempt from U.S. federal income taxation. However, they are subject to taxation on their
unrelated business taxable income, which is referred to in this prospectus as UBTI. While many investments in real
estate may generate UBTI, the IRS has ruled that dividend distributions from a REIT to a tax-exempt entity do not
constitute UBTI. Based on that ruling, and provided that:

a tax-exempt U.S. stockholder has not held our common stock as “debt financed property” within the meaning of the
€Code (i.e., where the acquisition or holding of the property is financed through a borrowing by the tax-exempt
stockholder),

our common stock is not otherwise used in an unrelated trade or business, and
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we do not hold an asset that gives rise to excess inclusion income, distributions from us and income from the sale of

our common stock generally should not give rise to UBTI to a tax-exempt U.S. stockholder.
Tax-exempt U.S. stockholders that are social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental
unemployment benefit trusts, and qualified group legal services plans exempt from U.S. federal income taxation under
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Sections 501(c)(7), (c)(9), (c)(17) and (c)(20) of the Code, respectively, are subject to different UBTI rules, which
generally will require them to characterize distributions from us as UBTI unless they are able to properly claim a
deduction for amounts set aside or placed in reserve for specific purposes so as to offset the income generated by its
investment in our common stock. These prospective investors should consult their tax advisors concerning these “set
aside” and reserve requirements.

In certain circumstances, a pension trust that (i) is described in Section 401(a) of the Code, (ii) is tax exempt under
Section 501(a) of the Code, and (iii) owns more than 10% of our stock could be required to treat a percentage of the
dividends from us as UBTI if we are a “pension-held REIT.” We will not be a pension-held REIT unless (i) either (a)
one pension trust owns more than 25% of the value of our stock, or (b) a group of pension trusts, each individually
holding more than 10% of the value of our stock, collectively owns more than 50% of such stock; and (ii) we would
not have qualified as a REIT but for the fact that Section 856(h)(3) of the Code provides that stock owned by such
trusts shall be treated, for purposes of the requirement that not more than 50% of the value of the outstanding stock of
a REIT is owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer “individuals” (as defined in the Code to include certain entities),
as owned by the beneficiaries of such trusts. Certain restrictions limiting ownership and transfer of our stock should
generally prevent a tax-exempt entity from owning more than 10% of the value of our stock, or us from becoming a
pension-held REIT.

Tax-exempt U.S. stockholders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal, state, local and
foreign tax consequences of owning our stock.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

The following is a summary of certain U.S. federal income tax consequences of the acquisition, ownership and
disposition of our common stock applicable to non-U.S. holders of our common stock. For these purposes, a non-U.S.
stockholder is a beneficial owner of our stock who is neither a U.S. stockholder nor an entity that is treated as a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The discussion is based on current law and is for general
information only. It addresses only selective and not all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation of non-U.S.
stockholders. In addition, this discussion assumes that:

you will not have held more than 10% of our common stock (taking into account applicable constructive ownership
rules) at any time during the five-year period ending on the date on which you dispose of our common stock or

receive distributions from us;

our common stock is and will continue to be “regularly traded” on an established securities market located in the United
States within the meaning of the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, or FIRPTA, although there

can be no assurance that this will continue to be the case; and

you are not a “qualified shareholder”, as defined in Section 897(k)(3)(A) of the Code, which describes certain
partnerships and other collective investment vehicles that satisfy various record keeping, administrative and other
requirements.

If you are a non-U.S. stockholder as to which any of these assumptions is not accurate, and in particular if you are a
“qualified shareholder”” within the meaning of FIRPTA, you should consult your own tax advisor concerning the tax
consequence to you of sales of our stock and the receipt of dividends and other distributions from us.

General

For most foreign investors, investment in a REIT that invests principally in mortgage loans and mortgage-backed
securities is not the most tax-efficient way to invest in such assets. That is because receiving distributions of income
derived from such assets in the form of REIT dividends subjects most foreign investors to withholding taxes that
direct investment in those asset classes, and the direct receipt of interest and principal payments with respect to them,
would not. The principal exceptions are foreign sovereigns and their agencies and instrumentalities, which may be
exempt from withholding taxes on REIT dividends under the Code, and certain foreign pension funds or similar
entities able to claim an exemption from withholding taxes on REIT dividends under the terms of a bilateral tax treaty
between their country of residence and the United States.

Ordinary Dividends
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The portion of dividends received by non-U.S. stockholders payable out of our earnings and profits that are not
effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business of the non-U.S. stockholder will generally be subject to U.S.
federal withholding tax at the rate of 30%, unless reduced or eliminated by an applicable income tax treaty. Under
some treaties,
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however, lower rates generally applicable to dividends do not apply to dividends from REITs. In addition, any portion
of the dividends paid to non-U.S. stockholders that are treated as excess inclusion income will not be eligible for
exemption from the 30% withholding tax or a reduced treaty rate. In the case of a taxable stock dividend with respect
to which any withholding tax is imposed, we may have to withhold or dispose of part of the shares otherwise
distributable in such dividend and use such shares or the proceeds of such disposition to satisfy the withholding tax
imposed.

In general, non-U.S. stockholders will not be considered to be engaged in a U.S. trade or business solely as a result of
their ownership of our stock. In cases where the dividend income from a non-U.S. stockholder’s investment in our
common stock is, or is treated as, effectively connected with the non-U.S. stockholder’s conduct of a U.S. trade or
business, the non-U.S. stockholder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax at graduated rates, in the same
manner as U.S. stockholders are taxed with respect to such dividends, and may also be subject to the 30% branch
profits tax on the income after the application of the income tax in the case of a non-U.S. stockholder that is a
corporation.

Non-Dividend Distributions

Unless (i) the non-U.S. stockholder’s investment in our common stock is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or
business conducted by such non-U.S. stockholder (in which case the non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to the same
treatment as U.S. stockholders with respect to such gain) or (ii) the non-U.S. stockholder is a nonresident alien
individual who was present in the U.S. for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a “tax home” in the U.S. (in
which case the non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual’s net capital gain for the year),
distributions by us which are not dividends out of our earnings and profits will not be subject to U.S. federal income
tax. If we cannot determine at the time at which a distribution is made whether or not the distribution will exceed
current and accumulated earnings and profits, the distribution will be subject to withholding at the rate applicable to
dividends. However, the non-U.S. stockholder may seek a refund from the IRS of any amounts withheld if it is
subsequently determined that the distribution was, in fact, in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and
profits.

Capital Gain Distributions

Capital gain dividends received by a non-U.S. stockholder from a REIT are generally not subject to U.S. federal
income or withholding tax, unless either (i) the non-U.S. stockholder’s investment in our common stock is effectively
connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by such non-U.S. stockholder (in which case the non-U.S.
stockholder will be subject to the same treatment as U.S. stockholders with respect to such gain) or (ii) the non-U.S.
stockholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the U.S. for 183 days or more during the taxable year
and has a “tax home” in the U.S. (in which case the non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual’s
net capital gain for the year). In addition, under FIRPTA, a distribution made by us to a non-U.S. stockholder, to the
extent attributable to a gain from disposition of a “U.S. real property interest” held by us directly or through
pass-through subsidiaries, will be treated as a distribution subject to the rules discussed above under “Taxation of
Non-U.S. Stockholders - Ordinary Dividends.”

Dispositions of Our Common Stock

Gain from the sale of our common stock will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income or withholding tax in the
case of a non-U.S. stockholder, except in two cases: (i) if the non-U.S. stockholder’s investment in our common stock
is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business conducted by such non-U.S. stockholder, the non-U.S.
stockholder will be subject to the same treatment as a U.S. stockholder with respect to such gain, or (ii) if the non-U.S.
stockholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the U.S. for 183 days or more during the taxable year
and has a “tax home” in the U.S., the nonresident alien individual will be subject to a 30% tax on the individual’s capital
gain.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”)

A 30% withholding tax will currently be imposed on dividends paid on our common stock and will be imposed on
gross proceeds from a sale or redemption of our common stock paid after December 31, 2018 to (i) foreign financial
institutions including non-U.S. investment funds, unless they agree to collect and disclose to the IRS information
regarding their direct and indirect U.S. account holders and (ii) certain other foreign entities, unless they certify certain
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information regarding their direct and indirect U.S. owners. To avoid withholding, foreign financial institutions will
need to (i) enter into agreements with the IRS that state that they will provide the IRS information, including the
names, addresses and taxpayer identification numbers of direct and indirect U.S. account holders, comply with due
diligence procedures with respect to the identification of U.S. accounts, report to the IRS certain information with
respect to U.S. accounts maintained, agree to withhold tax on certain payments made to non-compliant foreign
financial institutions or to account holders who fail to provide the required information, and determine certain other
information as to their account holders, or (ii) in the event that an applicable intergovernmental agreement and
implementing legislation are adopted, provide local revenue authorities with similar account holder information or
otherwise comply with the terms of the intergovernmental agreement and implementing
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legislation. Other foreign entities will need to either provide the name, address, and taxpayer identification number of
each substantial U.S. owner or certifications of no substantial U.S. ownership unless certain exceptions apply or agree
to provide certain information to other revenue authorities for transmittal to the IRS.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

We will report to our U.S. stockholders and the IRS the amount of dividends paid during each calendar year and the
amount of any tax withheld. Under the backup withholding rules, a U.S. stockholder may be subject to backup
withholding with respect to dividends paid unless the holder is a corporation or comes within other exempt categories
and, when required, demonstrates this fact or provides a taxpayer identification number or social security number,
certifies as to no loss of exemption from backup withholding and otherwise complies with applicable requirements of
the backup withholding rules. A U.S. stockholder that does not provide his or her correct taxpayer identification
number or social security number may also be subject to penalties imposed by the IRS. In addition, we may be
required to withhold a portion of capital gain distributions to any U.S. stockholder who fails to certify its non-foreign
status.

We must report annually to the IRS and to each non-U.S. stockholder the amount of dividends paid to such
stockholder and the tax withheld with respect to such dividends, regardless of whether withholding was required.
Copies of the information returns reporting such dividends and withholding may also be made available to the tax
authorities in the country in which the non-U.S. stockholder resides under the provisions of an applicable income tax
treaty. A non-U.S. stockholder may be subject to backup withholding unless applicable certification requirements are
met.

Payment of the proceeds of a sale of our common stock within the U.S. is subject to both backup withholding and
information reporting unless the beneficial owner certifies under penalties of perjury that it is a non-U.S. stockholder
(and the payor does not have actual knowledge or reason to know that the beneficial owner is a U.S. person) or the
stockholder otherwise establishes an exemption. Payment of the proceeds of a sale of our common stock conducted
through certain U.S. related financial intermediaries is subject to information reporting (but not backup withholding)
unless the financial intermediary has documentary evidence in its records that the beneficial owner is a non-U.S.
stockholder and specified conditions are met or an exemption is otherwise established.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules may be
allowed as a refund or a credit against such stockholder’s U.S. federal income tax liability provided the required
information is furnished to the IRS.

State, Local and Foreign Taxes

We and our stockholders may be subject to state, local or foreign taxation in various jurisdictions, including those in
which we or they transact business, own property or reside. The state, local or foreign tax treatment of us and our
stockholders may not conform to the U.S. federal income tax treatment discussed above. Any foreign taxes incurred
by us would not pass through to stockholders as a credit against their U.S. federal income tax liability. Prospective
stockholders should consult their tax advisors regarding the application and effect of state, local and foreign income
and other tax laws on an investment in our common stock.

Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs Could Materially and Adversely Affect Us and Our Stockholders

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative
process and by the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to the tax laws with or without retroactive
application, could materially and adversely affect us and our stockholders. We cannot predict how changes in the tax
laws might affect us or our stockholders. New legislation, Treasury Regulations, administrative interpretations or
court decisions could significantly and negatively affect our ability to qualify as a REIT or the U.S. federal income tax
consequences of such qualification.

In addition, the recently enacted TCJA makes substantial changes to the Code. Among those changes are a
significant permanent reduction in the generally applicable corporate tax rate, changes in the taxation of individuals
and other

non-corporate taxpayers that generally but not universally reduce their taxes on a temporary basis subject to “sunset”
provisions, the elimination or modification of various currently allowed deductions (including additional limitations
on the
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deductibility of business interest and substantial limitation on the deduction for state and local taxes imposed on
individuals),

and preferential taxation of certain income (including REIT dividends) derived by non-corporate taxpayers from
“pass-through” entities. The TCJA also imposes certain additional limitations on the deduction of net operating losses,
which

may in the future cause us to make distributions that will be taxable to our stockholders to the extent of our current or
accumulated earnings and profits in order to comply with the annual REIT distribution requirements. Finally, the
TCJA also
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makes significant changes in the international tax rules, which among other things may require us to include in our
taxable

income, and to distribute, pre-2018 earnings of certain of our foreign subsidiaries, which earnings have previously
been

deferred from taxation in the United States. The effect of these, and the many other, changes made in the TCJA is
highly

uncertain, both in terms of their direct effect on the taxation of an investment in our common stock and their indirect
effect on

the value of our assets. Furthermore, many of the provisions of the TCJA will require guidance through the issuance
of U.S.

Treasury Regulations in order to assess their effect. There may be a substantial delay before such regulations are
promulgated, increasing the uncertainty as to the ultimate effect of the statutory amendments on us. It is also likely
that there will be technical corrections legislation proposed with respect to the TCJA, the timing and effect of which
cannot be predicted and may be adverse to us or our stockholders.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities offered by this prospectus from time to time in one or more transactions, including without
limitation:

directly to purchasers;

through agents;

¢o or through underwriters or dealers; or

through a combination of these methods.

A distribution of the securities offered by this prospectus may also be effected through the issuance of derivative
securities, including without limitation, warrants, exchangeable securities, forward delivery contracts and the writing
of options.

In addition, the manner in which we may sell some or all of the securities covered by this prospectus includes, without
limitation, through:

a block trade in which a broker-dealer will attempt to sell as agent, but may position or resell a portion of the block, as
principal, in order to facilitate the transaction;

purchases by a broker-dealer, as principal, and resale by the broker-dealer for its account;

ordinary brokerage transactions and transactions in which a broker solicits purchasers; or

privately negotiated transactions.

We may also enter into hedging transactions. For example, we may:

enter into transactions with a broker-dealer or affiliate thereof in connection with which such broker-dealer or affiliate
will engage in short sales of securities pursuant to this prospectus, in which case such broker-dealer or affiliate may
use common stock received from us to close out its short positions;

sell securities short and redeliver such securities to close out our short positions;

enter into option or other types of transactions that require us to deliver common stock to a broker-dealer or an
affiliate thereof, who will then resell or transfer the common stock under this prospectus; or

.10an or pledge the common stock to a broker-dealer or an affiliate thereof, who may sell the loaned shares or, in an
event of default in the case of a pledge, sell the pledged shares pursuant to this prospectus.

In addition, we may enter into derivative or hedging transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by
this prospectus to third parties in privately negotiated transactions. In connection with such a transaction, the third
parties may sell securities covered by and pursuant to this prospectus and an applicable prospectus supplement or
pricing supplement, as the case may be. If so, the third party may use securities borrowed from us or others to settle
such sales and may use securities received from us to close out any related short positions. We may also loan or
pledge securities covered by this prospectus and an applicable prospectus supplement to third parties, who may sell
the loaned securities or, in an event of default in the case of a pledge, sell the pledged securities pursuant to this
prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement, as the case may be.
A prospectus supplement with respect to each series of securities will state the terms of the offering of the securities,
including:
the name or names of any underwriters or agents and the amounts of securities underwritten or purchased by
each of them, if any;
the public offering price or purchase price of the securities and the net proceeds to be received by us from the sale;
any delayed delivery arrangements;
any underwriting discounts or agency fees and other items constituting underwriters’ or agents’ compensation;
any discounts or concessions allowed or reallowed or paid to dealers; and
any securities exchange on which the securities may be listed.

The offer and sale of the securities described in this prospectus by us, the underwriters, or the third parties described
above may be effected from time to time in one or more transactions, including privately negotiated transactions,
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at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed;
at market prices prevailing at the time of sale;

at prices related to the prevailing market

prices; or
at negotiated prices.
General
Any public offering price and any discounts, commissions, concessions or other items constituting compensation
allowed or reallowed or paid to underwriters, dealers, agents or remarketing firms may be changed from time to time.
Underwriters, dealers, agents and remarketing firms that participate in the distribution of the offered securities may be
“underwriters” as defined in the Securities Act. Any discounts or commissions they receive from us and any profits they
receive on the resale of the offered securities may be treated as underwriting discounts and commissions under the
Securities Act. We will identify any underwriters, agents or dealers and describe their commissions, fees or discounts
in the applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement, as the case may be.
At-the-Market Offerings
If we reach an agreement with an underwriter on a placement, including the number of shares of stock to be offered in
the placement and any minimum price below which sales may not be made, such underwriter would agree to use its
commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with its normal trading and sales practices, to try to sell such shares on
such terms. Underwriters could make sales in privately negotiated transactions and/or any other method permitted by
law, including sales deemed to be an ““at-the-market” offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities
Act, sales made directly on the NYSE, the existing trading market for our stock, or sales made to or through a market
maker other than on an exchange. The name of any such underwriter or agent involved in the offer and sale of our
stock, the amounts underwritten, and the nature of its obligations to take our stock will be described in the applicable
prospectus supplement.
Underwriters and Agents
If underwriters are used in a sale, they will acquire the offered securities for their own account. The underwriters may
resell the offered securities in one or more transactions, including negotiated transactions. These sales may be made at
a fixed public offering price or prices, which may be changed, at market prices prevailing at the time of the sale, at
prices related to such prevailing market price or at negotiated prices. We may offer the securities to the public through
an underwriting syndicate or through a single underwriter. The underwriters in any particular offering will be
identified in the applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement, as the case may be.
Unless otherwise specified in connection with any particular offering of securities, the obligations of the underwriters
to purchase the offered securities will be subject to certain conditions contained in an underwriting agreement that we
will enter into with the underwriters at the time of the sale to them. The underwriters will be obligated to purchase all
of the securities of the series offered if any of the securities are purchased, unless otherwise specified in connection
with any particular offering of securities. Any initial offering price and any discounts or concessions allowed,
reallowed or paid to dealers may be changed from time to time.
We may designate agents to sell the offered securities. Unless otherwise specified in connection with any particular
offering of securities, the agents will agree to use their best efforts to solicit purchases for the period of their
appointment. We may also sell the offered securities to one or more remarketing firms, acting as principals for their
own accounts or as agents for us. These firms will remarket the offered securities upon purchasing them in accordance
with a redemption or repayment pursuant to the terms of the offered securities. A prospectus supplement or pricing
supplement, as the case may be, will identify any remarketing firm and will describe the terms of its agreement, if any,
with us and its compensation.
In connection with offerings made through underwriters or agents, we may enter into agreements with such
underwriters or agents pursuant to which we receive our outstanding securities in consideration for the securities being
offered to the public for cash. In connection with these arrangements, the underwriters or agents may also sell
securities covered by this prospectus to hedge their positions in these outstanding securities, including in short sale
transactions. If so, the underwriters or agents may use the securities received from us under these arrangements to
close out any related open borrowings of securities.
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Dealers
We may sell the offered securities to dealers as principals. We may negotiate and pay dealers’ commissions, discounts
or concessions for their services. The dealer may then resell such securities to the public either at varying prices to
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be determined by the dealer or at a fixed offering price agreed to with us at the time of resale. Dealers engaged by us
may allow other dealers to participate in resales.

Direct Sales

We may choose to sell the offered securities directly. In this case, no underwriters or agents would be involved.
Institutional Purchasers

We may authorize agents, dealers or underwriters to solicit certain institutional investors to purchase offered securities
on a delayed delivery basis pursuant to delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on a specified
future date. The applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement, as the case may be will provide the details
of any such arrangement, including the offering price and commissions payable on the solicitations.

We will enter into such delayed contracts only with institutional purchasers that we approve. These institutions may
include commercial and savings banks, insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies and educational
and charitable institutions.

Indemnification; Other Relationships

We may have agreements with agents, underwriters, dealers and remarketing firms to indemnify them against certain
civil liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities Act. Agents, underwriters, dealers and remarketing firms, and
their affiliates, may engage in transactions with, or perform services for, us in the ordinary course of business. This
includes commercial banking and investment banking transactions.

Market Making, Stabilization and Other Transactions

There is currently no market for any of the offered securities other than the shares of common stock and Series A
Preferred Stock and Series B Preferred Stock, which are listed on the NYSE. If certain of the offered securities are
traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount from their initial offering price, depending upon
prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities and other factors. While it is possible that an underwriter
could inform us that it intended to make a market in the offered securities, such underwriter would not be obligated to
do so, and any such market making could be discontinued at any time without notice. Therefore, no assurance can be
given as to whether an active trading market will develop for certain of the offered securities. We have no current
plans for listing of the offered securities (other than the common stock and Series A Preferred Stock and Series B
Preferred Stock) on any securities exchange; any such listing with respect to any particular securities will be described
in the applicable prospectus supplement or pricing supplement, as the case may be.

In connection with any offering of common stock of preferred stock, the underwriters may purchase and sell common
stock or preferred stock in the open market. These transactions may include short sales, syndicate covering
transactions and stabilizing transactions. Short sales involve syndicate sales of common stock or preferred stock in
excess of the number of shares to be purchased by the underwriters in the offering, which creates a syndicate short
position. “Covered” short sales are sales of shares made in an amount up to the number of shares represented by the
underwriters’ over-allotment option. In determining the source of shares to close out the covered syndicate short
position, the underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares available for purchase in the open
market as compared to the price at which they may purchase shares through the over-allotment option. Transactions to
close out the covered syndicate short involve either purchases of the common stock or preferred stock in the open
market after the distribution has been completed or the exercise of the over-allotment option. The underwriters may
also make “naked” short sales of shares in excess of the over-allotment option. The underwriters must close out any
naked short position by purchasing common stock or preferred stock in the open market. A naked short position is
more likely to be created if the underwriters are concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the
shares in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering. Stabilizing
transactions consist of bids for or purchases of shares in the open market while the offering is in progress for the
purpose of pegging, fixing or maintaining the price of the securities.

In connection with any offering, the underwriters may also engage in penalty bids. Penalty bids permit the
underwriters to reclaim a selling concession from a syndicate member when the securities originally sold by the
syndicate member are purchased in a syndicate covering transaction to cover syndicate short positions. Stabilizing
transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids may cause the price of the securities to be higher than it
would be in the absence of the transactions. The underwriters may, if they commence these transactions, discontinue
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LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters, including the validity of the offered securities, will be passed upon for us by Holland & Knight
LLP, Miami, Florida or such other counsel identified in any applicable prospectus supplement and certain U.S. federal
income tax consequences will be passed upon for us by Sidley Austin LLP, New York, New York, or such other
counsel identified in any applicable prospectus supplement.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements, incorporated in this prospectus by reference from ARMOUR Residential REIT,
Inc.’s and subsidiaries’ Annual Report on Form 10-K and the effectiveness of ARMOUR Residential REIT, Inc.’s and
subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their reports, which are incorporated herein by reference. Such
consolidated financial statements have been so incorporated in reliance upon the reports of such firm given upon their
authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We have filed a registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, covering the securities offered hereby. As
allowed by SEC rules, this prospectus does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and
the exhibits thereto. We refer you to the registration statement and the exhibits thereto for further information. This
prospectus is qualified in its entirety by such other information.

Copies of the registration statement, including the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement, may be
examined without charge at the public reference room of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Room 1580, Washington, DC
20549. Information about the operation of the public reference room may be obtained by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. Copies of all or a portion of the registration statement can be obtained from the public reference
room of the SEC upon payment of prescribed fees. Our SEC filings, including our registration statement, are also
available to you on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

We file reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC as required by the Exchange Act. Those reports,
proxy statements and other information are available for inspection and copying at the Public Reference Room and on
the SEC’s website referred to above.

We maintain a website on the Internet with the address of www.armourreit.com. We are not incorporating by
reference into this prospectus the information on our website, and you should not consider our website to be a part of
this prospectus.

INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC’s rules allow us to “incorporate by reference” information into this prospectus, which means that we can
disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The
information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this prospectus from the date of filing those documents.
Any reports filed by us with the SEC on or after the date of this prospectus will automatically update and, where
applicable, supersede any information contained in this prospectus or incorporated by reference in this prospectus. We
have filed the documents listed below with the SEC under the Exchange Act, and these documents are incorporated
herein by reference (other than information in such documents that is furnished and not deemed to be filed):

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed on February 14, 2018;

Our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018, filed on April 25, 2018;

pur Current Reports on Form 8-K, filed January 2, 2018, January 29, 2018, February 23, 2018, February 26, 2018,
March 26, 2018, April 2, 2018 and April 25, 2018;

The portions of our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, for our 2018 Annual Meeting of Stockholders filed
with the SEC on April 4, 2018 that are incorporated by reference into our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2017;

The description of our common stock included in our Registration Statement on Form 8-A, filed on March 31, 2011;
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The description of our 8.250% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock included in our Registration
Statement on Form 8-A, filed on June 7, 2012; and

The description of our 7.875% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock included in our Registration
Statement on Form 8-A, filed on February 12, 2013.

All documents we file pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act on or after the date of this
prospectus and prior to the termination of the offering of the securities to which this prospectus relates (other than
information in such documents that is furnished and not deemed to be filed) shall be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into this prospectus and to be a part hereof from the date of filing of those documents. All documents we file
pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of the initial registration statement
that contains this prospectus and prior to the effectiveness of the registration statement shall be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into this prospectus and to be a part hereof from the date of filing those documents.

We will provide to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a copy of this prospectus is delivered, a
copy of any or all of the information that has been incorporated by reference in this prospectus but not delivered with
this prospectus (other than the exhibits to such documents which are not specifically incorporated by reference
therein); we will provide this information at no cost to the requester upon written or oral request to: Chief Financial
Officer, ARMOUR Residential REIT, Inc., 3001 Ocean Drive, Suite 201, Vero Beach, Florida 32963, or (772)
617-4340.
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